Life Cycle Assessment for Integrated Dissolving Pulp and Furfural Production from Oil Palm Empty Fruit Bunch

July 2020

Agusta Samodra PUTRA

Life Cycle Assessment for Integrated Dissolving Pulp and Furfural Production from Oil Palm Empty Fruit Bunch

A Dissertation Submitted to

the Graduate School of Life and Environmental Sciences,

the University of Tsukuba

in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Bioresource Engineering

(Doctoral Program in Appropriate Technology and Sciences for

Sustainable Development)

Agusta Samodra PUTRA

Table of Contents

Chapter 1 General Introduction

1.1 Research background	1
1.2 Problem statements	3
1.3 Research objectives	3

Chapter 2 Production of Dissolving Pulp and Furfural as Biorefinery Products from Oil Palm Empty Fruit Bunch (EFB)

2.1 Introduction
2.2 Materials and methods
2.2.1 Materials
2.2.2 Nitric acid prehydrolysis soda cooking
2.2.3 Auto-prehydrolysis soda-AQ cooking
2.2.4 Chemical analysis
2.2.5 Acid catalytic dehydration of prehydrolysis liquor (PHL)10
2.2.6 Bleaching sequences and conditions
2.3 Results and discussion
2.3.1 Comparison of mass balance between nitric acid prehydrolysis and
auto-prehydrolysis11
2.3.2 Effect of auto-prehydrolysis time on furfural production
2.3.3 Effect of sulfuric acid concentration on furfural dehydration in the auto-
prehydrolysis liquor (PHL)14
2.3.4 Effect of nitric acid prehydrolysis on furfural production from EFB15

2.3.5 Preparation of elemental chlorine free (ECF) bleached pulp from nitric	
acid prehydrolysis soda pulp	16
2.3.6 Dealing with waste nitric acid after prehydrolysis	19
2.4 Conclusions	21

Chapter 3 A Consequential Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) Approach in the Development of Integrated Oil Palm Empty Fruit Bunch (EFB)-based Dissolving Pulp and Furfural Production

3.1 Introduction	22
3.2 Materials and methods	28
3.2.1 Material and location for consequential LCA (cLCA) model	
3.2.2 Goal and scope	. 29
3.2.3 Basis for inventory data collection	. 29
3.2.4 Life cycle inventory (LCI) analysis	. 32
3.2.5 Consequential approach	34
3.2.6 Environmental impact analysis	35
3.2.7 Limitation of LCA study	36
3.3 Results and discussion	.37
3.3.1 Environmental impact assessment for the existing condition of	
dissolving pulp production from wood	.37
3.3.2 Environmental impact assessment for proposed integrated process for	
dissolving pulp and furfural production	. 39
3.3.3 Environmental impact contributor identification	.44

3.3.4 Environmental impact assessment simulation of the improvement of the
proposed process of integrated dissolving pulp and furfural production from
EFB
3.3.5 Effect of EFB utilization for integrated dissolving pulp and furfural
production to additional agrochemical fertilizer usage47
3.3.6 Sensitivity analysis on production process energy input for proposed
scenarios
3.3.7 Implication of LCA results for dissolving pulp industry decision
support
3.4 Conclusions
Chanter 4 Oil Palm Emnty Fruit Bunch as A Promising Feedstock for
Biorefinery Products in The Economic. Energy, and Environmental
Biorefinery Products in The Economic, Energy, and Environmental Consideration
Biorefinery Products in The Economic, Energy, and Environmental Consideration
Biorefinery Products in The Economic, Energy, and Environmental Consideration 4.1 Introduction
Biorefinery Products in The Economic, Energy, and Environmental Consideration 4.1 Introduction 52 4.2 Methodology 55
Biorefinery Products in The Economic, Energy, and Environmental Consideration 4.1 Introduction 52 4.2 Methodology 55 4.2.1 Goal and scope
Biorefinery Products in The Economic, Energy, and Environmental Consideration 4.1 Introduction 52 4.2 Methodology 55 4.2.1 Goal and scope 56 4.2.2 Calculation
Biorefinery Products in The Economic, Energy, and Environmental Consideration 4.1 Introduction 52 4.2 Methodology 55 4.2.1 Goal and scope 56 4.2.2 Calculation 57 4.2.3 Data collection
Biorefinery Products in The Economic, Energy, and Environmental Consideration 4.1 Introduction 4.2 Methodology 55 4.2.1 Goal and scope 56 4.2.2 Calculation 57 4.2.3 Data collection 60 4.3 Results and discussion
Biorefinery Products in The Economic, Energy, and Environmental Consideration 4.1 Introduction 4.2 Methodology 55 4.2.1 Goal and scope 56 4.2.2 Calculation 57 4.3 Results and discussion 62 4.4 Conclusions
Biorefinery Products in The Economic, Energy, and Environmental Consideration 4.1 Introduction 4.2 Methodology 55 4.2.1 Goal and scope 56 4.2.2 Calculation 57 4.2.3 Data collection 60 4.3 Results and discussion 62 4.4 Conclusions 71 Chapter 5 General Conclusions
Biorefinery Products in The Economic, Energy, and Environmental Consideration 4.1 Introduction 4.2 Methodology 55 4.2.1 Goal and scope 56 4.2.2 Calculation 57 4.2.3 Data collection 60 4.3 Results and discussion 62 4.4 Conclusions 71 Chapter 5 General Conclusions 75

List of Figures

Fig. 2-1 Effect of prehydrolysis time on furfural production in the auto-PHL13
Fig. 2-2 Dehydration of xylose to furfural under acidic conditions14
Fig. 2-3 Effect of sulfuric acid concentration on furfural production in the
dehydration of auto-PHL15
Fig. 2-4 Effect of sulfuric acid concentration on furfural production in the 1 h
dehydration of nitric acid PHL16
Fig. 2-5 Brightness and viscosity profile of nitric acid prehydrolysis soda pulp
during P_{sa} - D_0 - E_p - D_1 bleaching
Fig. 2-6 Nitric acid balance of the proposed process and how to deal with the
nitric acid PHL20
Fig. 3-1 Potential biorefinery products from EFB based on its chemical
component23
Fig. 3-2 Furfural derivatives and their application in the industry
Fig. 3-3 Oil palm plantation distribution areas and dissolving pulp industry
location in Indonesia28
Fig. 3-4 Consequential approach system boundary in the proposed dissolving pulp
and furfural production scenario35
Fig. 3-5 LCI analysis and environmental impact assessment for palm oil existing
condition and prehydrolysis/ kraft cooking process for dissolving pulp
production in Riau Province
Fig. 3-6 LCI analysis and environmental impact assessment for 50% of wood
replaced by EFB with acid prehydrolysis/ soda cooking for dissolving
pulp production (Scenario 1)40

Fig. 3-7 LCI analysis and environmental impact assessment for the 100% of wood
replaced by EFB with acid prehydrolysis/ soda cooking for dissolving
pulp production (Scenario 2)41
Fig. 3-8 LCI analysis and environmental impact assessment for proposed process
with improvement by water prehydrolysis process (Scenario 3) to replace
acid prehydrolysis process (Scenario 2)45
Fig. 3-9 Environmental impact assessment for 1 kg of dissolving pulp production
(including furfural co-production in the proposed scenario 1, 2 and 3)46
Fig. 3-10 Environmental impact contributor for 1 kg of dissolving pulp production
in each scenario (including furfural co-production in the proposed
scenario 1,2 and 3)
Fig. 3-11 Sensitivity analysis on production process energy input for proposed
scenarios
Fig. 4-1 CPO production process and EFB utilization scheme
Fig. 4-2 Scheme of the methodology in this research
Fig. 4-3 Technical process diagram block of dissolving pulp and furfural co-
production61
Fig. 4-4 Costs analysis for 1 kg of dissolving pulp production in the study70

List of Tables

Table 2-1 Chemical composition of EFB raw material and PHL 12
Table 2-2 Carbohydrate composition of auto-PHL after various prehydrolysis
times
Table 2-3 Properties of unbleached pulps from nitric acid prehydrolysis soda
cooking and auto-prehydrolysis soda-AQ cooking
Table 2-4 Properties of ECF-bleached pulp from nitric acid prehydrolysis soda
cooking
Table 3-1 Chemical characterization of EFB compare to wood
Table 3-2 Technical data of process conditions for direct inputs and outputs
Table 3-3 Direct inputs and outputs of 1 kg dissolving pulp production from wood
and EFB raw material 33
Table 3-4 Dissolving pulp quality, furfural quantity, and environmental impact for
each scenario
Table 4-1 Chemical composition of empty fruit bunch (EFB) 53
Table 4-2 Bleaching conditions for proposed process 61
Table 4-3 Life cycle inventory and life cycle cost analysis to produce 1 kg of
dissolving pulp64

List of Abbreviations

EFB	Empty Fruit Bunch
СРО	Crude Palm Oil
РКО	Palm Kernel Oil
DP	Dissolving Pulp
ECF	Elemental Chlorine-Free
AQ	Anthraquinone
PHL	Prehydrolysis Liquor
TCF	Totally Chlorine-Free
P _{sa}	Peroxymonosulfuric Acid
IC	Ion Chromatography
AA	Active Alkali
PC	Pulp Consistency
HPLC	High Performance Liquid Chromatography
LCA	Life Cycle Assessment
cLCA	consequential Life Cycle Assessment
LCI	Life Cycle Inventory
CML	Centrum voor Milieuwetenschappen Leiden
	(Institute of Environmental Sciences Leiden)
GWP	Global Warming Potential
EP	Eutrophication Potential
AP	Acidification Potential
НТР	Human Toxicity Potential
CED	Cumulative Energy Demand
LCC	Life Cycle Costing

Techno-Economic Assessment

TEA

ABSTRACT

The oil palm empty fruit bunch (EFB) is the main biomass waste of the palm mill, but most of the waste is discarded at the plantation site without any value-added processing. The only existing commercial technology for EFB utilization is fertilizer production by the composting process. The abundance of cellulose and hemicellulose in the EFB can be converted into dissolving pulp and furfural. On the other hand, production of dissolving pulp is reliant on wood, which depletes forest resources. To prevent the over-exploitation of wood resources, a comprehensive approach is required considering non-wood material, such as EFB, for co-producing dissolving pulp and furfural accounting with environmental impacts.

Efforts have been done to utilize EFB for pulp production. The first EFBbased pulp mill was set up in East Malaysia (Sabah) in 2003. This mill conducted a soda cooking process to produce EFB pulp. The production of non-wood pulp, such as EFB pulp, has many advantages. The non-wood materials are more easily delignified than softwood, contain fine fibers that can be used for high-quality bleached pulp such as dissolving pulp, effective to substitute wood resources, and reduce the energy requirement for production.

In the Chapter 2, at laboratory scale, EFB-based dissolving pulp and furfural co-production experiment was done. The nitric acid prehydrolysis followed by soda cooking under atmospheric pressure was applied to the preparation of dissolving pulp. The furfural yield in the nitric acid prehydrolysate was increased to 6.2% of the EFB material weight by dehydration with an acid catalyst. The obtained pulp was then bleached by using peroxymonosulfuric acid (P_{sa}), chlorine dioxide (D₀, D₁), and hydrogen peroxide (E_p) in the elemental chlorine-free (ECF) P_{sa}-D₀-E_p-D₁ sequence. The pulp demonstrated a brightness of 90.4% ISO and a viscosity of 6.5 cP, which met the National Standard of Indonesia, although the xylan content was a little high and the α -cellulose content was 83.0%.

In the Chapter 3, the consequential Life Cycle Assessment (cLCA) was developed to assess the environmental impact of EFB utilization for dissolving pulp production with furfural as a co-product. The inventory for the input-output materials including energy stream for the proposed integrated dissolving pulp and furfural production process was evaluated based on a previous bench-scale experiments. In the cLCA, the conventional dissolving pulp production process was considered to be replaced by a proposed process. In the existing condition, EFB was used for soil nutrients in the oil palm plantation. The EFB utilization shifting into dissolving pulp and furfural production will affect the total amount of chemical fertilizer in the oil palm plantation. The cLCA system boundary followed the system expansion from the forest or plantation to the end products of dissolving pulp and furfural. The SimaPro v8.0.5® software was used for the LCA calculation.

The baseline environmental impact categories, such as climate change or global warming potential (GWP100) in kg CO₂ eq unit, eutrophication potential (EP) in kg PO₄³⁻ eq unit, acidification potential (AP) in kg SO₂ eq unit, and human toxicity potential (HTP) in kg 1,4-dichlorobenzene eq unit, were quantified. The global warming potential is related to the emissions of greenhouse gases (GHG) and is frequently expressed as time span variation generally in 20, 50, and 100

years (GWP20, GWP50, GWP100). Of these, GWP100 was used in the study. The emission characterization factor for climate change followed the characterization model as developed by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). The eutrophication potential corresponds to the prediction for over-accumulation of nutrients. The characterization factor was based on the stoichiometric procedure of CML impact assessment method. The acidification potential corresponds to the prediction of the over-accumulation of acidifying substance in the environment. The characterization factor for acidifying substances to air was calculated based on the Regional Air Pollution Information and Simulation (RAINS) 10 model. Human toxicity potential is related to its effect on human health of toxic substances present in the environment. Its characterization factor was calculated based on the Uniform System for the Evaluation of Substance adapted for LCA purposes (USES-LCA).

This study examined three proposed scenarios for dissolving pulp production compared to the existing practice in Riau Province. In the conventional process, pulpwood is applied to prehydrolysis/ kraft cooking followed by ECF bleaching. In scenario 1, 50% of the wood consumption was replaced by EFB using acid prehydrolysis/ soda cooking followed by ECF bleaching, with an additional process to produce furfural. In scenario 2, 100% of wood consumption was replaced by EFB, with cooking and bleaching parameters being the same as scenario 1. In scenario 3, 100% of wood consumption was replaced by EFB, the acid prehydrolysis process was replaced by water prehydrolysis to improve the environmental performance. The scenario 3 was observed as the most promising scenario in this research and had the lowest environmental impact. In the Chapter 4, the life cycle assessment (LCA), life cycle cost (LCC), and cumulative energy demand (CED) of the best scenario were used to evaluate the feasibility of EFB as a raw material for dissolving pulp and furfural coproduction. An additional techno-economic assessment was performed on realistic industrial-scale process conditions for cost calculation.

This research was conducted to propose EFB as the substitute of wood to produce dissolving pulp and furfural, which was considered to be environmentally sustainable and economically profitable. The scenarios were proposed and compared with the existing practice. The cLCA approach recommended that the EFB is a promising raw material referring to scenario 3 for integrated dissolving pulp and furfural production from the environmental point of view.

Keywords: *empty fruit bunch, dissolving pulp, furfural, life cycle assessment, life cycle costing, techno-economic assessment*

Chapter 1 General Introduction

1.1 Research background

Dissolving pulp that broadly called as viscose pulp, which is used as a raw material for manufacturing viscose staple fibers and high-grade specialty pulp. Viscose staple fibers are used for textile fiber market generally. Dissolving pulp can also be used as feedstock for cellulose products, such as cellophane, cellulose acetate, nitrocellulose, carboxymethyl cellulose, and cellulose ether [1,2]. The total production of dissolving pulp in the world was 8.5 million tons in 2017 [1]. The global dissolving pulp demand is predicted to expand in the next decades due to increasing of cellulose and textile fibers demand. The global production of textile fibers is predicted to increase to 133.5 million tons in 2030 by increasing in per capita consumption and population [3].

Currently, wood dissolving pulp is produced by the acid sulfite and prehydrolysis kraft processes since 1950s. A novel concept of dissolving pulp production regarding to its global demand increment is necessary to conduct. The efforts were done to improve dissolving pulp production based on productivity, sustainability, and environmental consideration point of view. Researchers suggested that non-wood materials can be used for dissolving pulp production due to deforestation and global warming issues.

The valorization of non-wood materials as dissolving pulp raw material allows wood raw materials to be saved for other use. It can also reduce wood fiber import in countries with a shortage of wood raw materials. The non-wood materials that potentially used for dissolving pulp raw material is agricultural crop wastes, such as sugarcane bagasse, bamboo, and palm oil empty fruit bunch (EFB).

As the largest palm oil exporter in the world, Indonesia has a huge amount of EFB that can be processed into valuable materials, such as dissolving pulp. The EFB is a rich carbon-source material that can be considered as a valuable material in the future. The utilization of EFB in pulp production began in 2003 when the first pulp mill using palm oil-based raw materials was set up in East Malaysia (Sabah) by the Forest Research Institute of Malaysia and Borneo Advanced Sdn. Bhd., a pulp and paper manufacturer [4], using a soda cooking process to produce EFB pulp.

In the dissolving pulp production, prehydrolysis process was necessary. During the prehydrolysis process, hemicelluloses and other organics are dissolved in the prehydrolysis liquor (PHL). In the dissolving pulp industry, this PHL was considered as a waste. The further processes to utilize this PHL into valuable products is needed. Furfural is a natural dehydration product of xylose, which is one of monosaccharide found in the hemicellulose fraction in the PHL.

The prehydrolysis/ soda-anthraquinone (AQ) cooking followed by elemental chlorine-free (ECF) bleaching process or nitric acid prehydrolysis/ soda cooking and the ECF bleaching can be used for co-producing dissolving pulp and furfural from EFB. As a proposed technology process, the feasibility assessment considers to environmental, energy, and economic approach is needed.

The Life Cycle Assessment (LCA), Life Cycle Costing (LCC), and Cumulative Energy Demand (CED) methodologies were needed to do due to evaluate the feasibility of the EFB as raw material for dissolving pulp and furfural co-production. LCA-LCC-CED comprehensively can give a precise interpretation for the company or decision-maker.

1.2 Problem statements

The problems stated in this dissertation are as follows:

- The non-wood agricultural residue in Indonesia, such as EFB is potential to provide an alternative source of biomass for the dissolving pulp production.
- Prehydrolysis process releases prehydrolysate that still contain large amounts of hemicellulose. This hemicellulose can be converted into valuable material, such as furfural.
- Indonesia has sufficient amount of EFB that only used for composting process in the plantation area.
- Feasibility study in the development of the EFB-based integrated dissolving pulp and furfural production is necessary.

1.3 Research objectives

The aim of the study was:

- To prepare lab-scale co-production of dissolving pulp and furfural by nitric acid prehydrolysis/ soda cooking followed by ECF bleaching.
- To simulate the mass balance of dissolving pulp and furfural co-production from the EFB.
- 3) To study the environmental impact of the EFB-based integrated dissolving pulp and furfural co-production by using Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) approach.

 To evaluate EFB as a promising feedstock for dissolving pulp and furfural co-production in the environmental, energy usage, and economic parameters consideration.

Chapter 2 Production of Dissolving Pulp and Furfural as Biorefinery Products from Oil Palm Empty Fruit Bunch (EFB)

2.1 Introduction

Global vegetable oil production from oil palms (*Elaeis guineensis*) is dominated by Indonesia and Malaysia, with Indonesia producing 29 million metric tons of Crude Palm Oil (CPO) in 2014 [5]. Palm oil mills produce CPO and Palm Kernel Oil (PKO) as the main products, leaving residues such as shells, fibers, fronds, palm kernel cakes, and empty fruit bunch (EFB). However, most of these residues are not used, for example, EFB are the main by-product of palm fruit, but they are left rotting at the plantation site without further processing. It is known that EFB are lignocellulosic material, with an estimated cellulose content of 30-35%, while the hemicellulose and lignin contents are 15-35% and 20-30%, respectively [6]. The first oil palm-based pulp and paper mill was set up in Malaysia, and caustic soda technology is used for producing pulp [4]. The EFB can be utilized as a raw material for paperboard and medium density fiberboard [7].

Dissolving pulp (DP) is used as a raw material for manufacturing rayon and cellulose derivatives. The yield of an overall DP production process is 30-35%, which is relatively low when compared with regular paper pulp [8]. DP needs to be high quality, with a high degree of α -cellulose content, a low hemicellulose content, and an extremely low lignin content. Researchers have used lignocellulosic materials to produce DP. Andrade and Colodette produced DP from sugarcane bagasse using prehydrolysis soda cooking and elemental chlorine-free (ECF) bleaching [9]. Batalha et al. produced DP from bamboo using

prehydrolysis soda-anthraquinone (AQ) cooking and chlorine or ECF bleaching sequences [10].

On the other hand, hemicelluloses are very useful in biorefinery processes, and can be released by prehydrolysis of lignocellulosic material at high temperature. Hemicelluloses in softwoods include arabinoglucoronoxylan, arabinogalactan, and galactoglucomannan, while the predominant hemicelluloses in hardwoods are glucuronoxylan and glucomannan [11], and it is interesting to compare these with other lignocellulosic materials. During the prehydrolysis stage of DP production, hemicelluloses and other organics are dissolved in the prehydrolysate liquor (PHL). The major reactions include depolymerization and dissolution of hemicelluloses [12,13], further degradation of pentose to products such as furfural and hydroxymethyl furfural [14], and acetic acid generation by the cleavage of acetyl groups, which is responsible for the decrease in pH during prehydrolysis [12,15].

Furfural is a natural dehydration product of xylose, which is mainly present as glucuronoxylan and glucuronoarabinoxylan. Furfural has been identified as one of the top thirty platform chemicals that could be made from biomass, along with two of its derivatives, furan dicarboxylic acid and levulinic acid [16]. Furfural is used as a selective solvent for separating saturated compounds from unsaturated compounds in petroleum refining, as well as for oil, gas, and diesel fuels, and there is high demand for its derivatives, particularly furfuryl alcohol, which is used as a precursor for furans resins [17]. Furfural has two important functional groups: an aldehyde and a conjugated system, which makes it a versatile compound for many applications. The furan ring system can undergo alkylation, hydrogenation, oxidation, halogenation, ring-opening reactions, and nitration [18,19].

In lignocellulosic materials, hemicellulose is easier to hydrolyze than cellulose. Thus, hemicellulose is selectively removed by an auto-hydrolysis. Unfortunately, auto-prehydrolysis is inefficient for extraction of xylan from hemicellulose in biorefineries. In order to enhance furfural production from the PHL, it is important to include a second-stage acid dehydration process. Lavarack et al. used hydrochloric and sulfuric acids to hydrolyze sugarcane bagasse hemicellulose [20]. Acid catalysis of EFB hydrolysis has been utilized to increase the sugar content in the hydrolysate [21].

Various acids including sulfuric, hydrochloric, hydrofluoric, nitric, and acetic acids are commonly applied as catalysts for hydrolysis processes. Rodriguez-Chong et al. used nitric acid to hydrolyze sugarcane bagasse to release large amount of sugars and produce degradation products, such as acetic acid and furfural [22]. Meanwhile, Ohi and Kishino studied on lignin degradation using nitric acid and nitrite [23]. Thus, in this study, nitric acid was also applied to the prehydrolysis process.

The aims of this Chapter were to clarify a method of preparing furfural and DP from EFB using prehydrolysis with nitric acid, and to determine how PHLs that contain xylan, and therefore nitric acid prehydrolysis was compared with auto-prehydrolysis to determine how the process produces a sufficient amount of furfural. Prehydrolysis and cooking conditions for preparation of unbleached EFB pulps were compared to understand how they affect pulp properties. In addition, ECF bleaching sequences using peroxymonosulfuric acid (P_{sa}) were studied to clarify their impact on the brightness and viscosity of the resulting DP.

2.2 Materials and methods

2.2.1 Materials

The EFB was obtained from the PT Perkebunan Nusantara VIII palm oil mill in Bogor, West Java, Indonesia. The EFB was cut into 10-15 cm fiber fragments and sun-dried to achieve 8-10% moisture content. The EFB fibers were then further cut to a length between 0.2 and 1 cm with a laboratory disk mill for the cooking process. The EFB materials were milled with a Willey mill and sieved to yield particle size of 40-80 mesh for chemical analysis. These samples were kept at room temperature and air-dried.

2.2.2 Nitric acid prehydrolysis soda cooking

The EFB materials (35 g, oven-dried) were placed in a 1 L glass reactor and subjected to prehydrolysis with 420 mL of nitric acid solution for 75 min at 96°C under atmospheric pressure. The dosage of HNO₃ was 32% based on EFB weight (oven-dried), and the ratio of liquor to EFB was 12 mL/g. After prehydrolysis, 100 mL of PHL and the residue (approximately 25 g, oven-dried) were separated. The residue was washed with water and subjected to soda cooking using a 20% dosage of active alkali (AA) for 3 h at 104°C under atmospheric pressure.

2.2.3 Auto-prehydrolysis soda-AQ cooking

The EFB materials (35 g, oven-dried) were placed in a 300 mL steel reactor and subjected to prehydrolysis with 245 mL of distilled water for 1-3 h at 150°C. After prehydrolysis, a portion (160 mL) of the PHL was removed. The liquor-tosolid ratio for the prehydrolysis step was 7 mL/g. After prehydrolysis, the wet solid residue was subjected to soda-AQ cooking for 3 h at 160°C using 20% dosage of AA and 0.1% dosage of AQ, by adding the 1,4-dihydro-9,10dihydroxyanthracene sodium salt (SAQ provided by Kawasaki Kasei Chemical Ltd.). The liquor-to-solid ratio for the soda-AQ cooking was 7 mL/g.

2.2.4 Chemical analysis

The acid-insoluble lignin (Klason lignin), acid-soluble lignin, extractive, and ash content of the materials and products were determined using TAPPI test methods T222 om-01, TAPPI UM 250, TAPPI T204 om-88, and T211 om-93, respectively. Sugar compositions were determined by ion chromatography (IC) of the filtrates of the acid hydrolysis, which had been diluted 1000 times, using a Dionex ICS 3000 system (Dionex, Sunnyvale, CA, USA) equipped with a single pump (SP-1), an electrochemical detector, an CarboPac PA 1 column, an CarboPac PA 1 guard column, and an auto sampler. The chemical composition of the nitric acid PHL was determined using part of the liquid that was neutralized by dropwise addition of 20% NaOH aqueous solution, followed by acid hydrolysis in 4% sulfuric acid at 121°C for 1 h. The kappa number, viscosity, and brightness of the pulps were determined using TAPPI test methods T236 om-13, T230 om-13, and T452 om-08, respectively. The brightness (% ISO) was measured using a Tokyo-Denshoku digital color meter (Model TC-3600).

After distillation of the PHL at 102°C, furfural was collected into the distillate and then analyzed using high performance liquid chromatography according to a previously reported method [24].

The nitrogen content of the residue after the nitric acid prehydrolysis was analyzed at the Chemical Analysis Division, Research Facility Center for Science and Technology, University of Tsukuba, Japan, using a Perkin-Elmer 2400 CHN elemental analyzer. The nitrate (NO₃⁻) concentration in the nitric acid PHL and the distillate were determined by IC using an electric conductivity detector, an IonPac AS 12A column, and an IonPac AG 12A guard column.

2.2.5 Acid catalytic dehydration of prehydrolysis liquor (PHL)

As mentioned previously, EFB was prehydrolyzed with hot water for 1–3 h at 150°C. After this auto-prehydrolysis, PHL was subjected to acid catalytic dehydration by dropwise addition of 95% H₂SO₄ to reach a final sulfuric acid concentration of 2–6% after reaction for 1–2 h at 98°C under atmospheric pressure. After nitric acid prehydrolysis for 75 min, PHL was subjected to acid catalytic dehydration by dropwise addition of 95% H₂SO₄ to give a final sulfuric acid concentration of 2–6% after for 1 h at 98°C under atmospheric pressure.

2.2.6 Bleaching sequences and conditions

The resultant unbleached pulps were subjected to ECF bleaching using P_{sa} , chlorine dioxide (D₀, D₁), and alkaline peroxide (E_p) stages with a P_{sa} -D₀-E_p-D₁ sequence. The bleaching conditions are shown as follows:

P_{sa}: H₂SO₅ dosage: 0.2%, 1 h, 70°C, pH 3.0, pulp consistency (PC) 10%

D₀: ClO₂ dosage: kappa factor 0.30, 1 h, 70°C, pH 3.4, PC 10%

E_p: NaOH dosage: 1%, H₂O₂ dosage: 1.4%, 1 h, 70°C, PC 10%

D₁: ClO₂ dosage: 0.3%, 1 h, 70°C, PC 10%

Unbleached pulp (10 g, oven-dried weight) was first treated with a mixture of H_2SO_5 , H_2SO_4 , and H_2O_2 (0.19, 0.81, and 0.14 mmol/L, respectively) in a polyethylene bag. H_2SO_5 was synthesized by dropping 95% sulfuric acid (Wako Pure Chemical Industries, Ltd.) into 45% hydrogen peroxide aqueous solution (Mitsubishi Gas Chemical Company, Inc.) at 70°C, and a small amount of NaOH

aqueous solution was added to the pulp at 10% PC to adjust the pulp suspension to pH 3.0 [25]. Then after washing, the pulp was treated with ClO_2 in a polyvinylidene chloride bag. After washing, the pulp was treated with NaOH and H₂O₂ in a polyethylene bag, washed again, and finally treated with ClO_2 .

2.3 Results and discussion

2.3.1 Comparison of mass balance between nitric acid prehydrolysis and auto-prehydrolysis

Determination of the chemical composition of the EFB raw material is necessary to show the potential of using EFB in furfural and DP production. Table 2-1 shows that the EFB is a good candidate for biorefinery processes because of the high contents of glucan and xylan (31.1% and 16.5%, respectively). Xylan is an important source for production of xylose, which can be dehydrated further to furfural. Table 2-1 shows that xylan is the main component present in the nitric acid PHL (10.7%). Thus, the PHL is a potential source of xylan for furfural production.

This study also considered the important role of mass balance in describing the feasibility of prehydrolysis processes. The mass balance results show that the acid-insoluble lignin content of the residue from nitric acid prehydrolysis was lower than that of the residue from auto-prehydrolysis. In addition, the results show that the loss of acid-insoluble lignin (12.2%) during nitric acid prehydrolysis was higher than that during auto-prehydrolysis. The loss can be used to indicate the level of degradation of the acid-insoluble lignin component in the nitric acid treatment.

	Acid-insoluble	Acid-soluble	Glucan	Xylan	Other sugars	Extractive		Unknown
	lignin (%)	lignin (%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	Ash (%)	(%)
EFB	28.0 ± 0.4	3.0 ±0.2	31.1 ±2.4	17.5 ± 1.6	0.8 ±0.1	8.6 ±1.1	5.5 ±0.2	5.5 ±3.0
Nitric acid	prehydrolysis							
PHL	0.8 ±0.1	0.9 ±0.1	0.2 ±0.1	10.7 ±0.1	0.0 ± 0.1	ND ^{a)}	ND	20.4±0.1
Residue b)	15.0 ± 0.8	1.7 ±0.1	30.1 ±0.3	6.5 ±0.1	0.0 ± 0.1	ND	ND	13.7±0.6
Loss	12.2 ± 1.2	0.4 ±0.1	0.8 ±0.1	0.3 ±0.1	0.8 ±0.1	8.6 ±1.1	5.5 ±0.2	(-28.6 ±3.7)
Auto prehy	drolysis							
PHL	1.5 ±0.2	1.6 ±0.2	0.2 ±0.1	1.7 ±0.1	0.5 ±0.1	ND ^{c)}	1.5 ±0.0	2.0 ±0.7
Residue ^{c)}	25.6 ± 0.3	1.2 ±0.1	29.4 ±0.7	9.8 ±0.3	0.0 ± 0.1	ND	ND	25.0 ± 1.2
Loss	0.9 ±0.1	0.2 ±0.1	1.5 ±1.7	5.0 ±1.4	0.3 ±0.1	8.6 ±1.1	4.0 ±0.5	(-20.5 ±1.1)

Table 2-1 Chemical composition of EFB raw material and PHL^{a)}

a) Not determined

b) Yield: 67.1 ±0.1% of EFB material weight

c) Yield: 91.2 ±0.1% of EFB material weight

2.3.2 Effect of auto-prehydrolysis time on furfural production

The Table 2-2 shows that the xylan concentration increased with decreasing pH with prolonged auto-prehydrolysis time. This behavior can be assumed to lead to increased degradation of xylan to produce furfural. Fig. 2-1 shows that the prehydrolysis time affects the concentration of furfural in the auto-prehydrolysate (auto-PHL). After 3h of prehydrolysis, the furfural concentration increased from 3 to 17 ppm. However, the amount of furfural produced represents only 0.012% of the weight of the EFB material, therefore these conditions did not lead to efficient production of furfural.

Prehydrolysis		Freeze-dried solid	Glucan	Xylan	Others
time (h)	pH	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)
1	5.5 ± 0.1	6.4 ±0.1	0.21 ± 0.04	0.7 ± 0.1	0.5 ± 0.1
2	5.2 ±0.1	7.6 ±0.2	0.22±0.04	0.9 ±0.1	0.3 ±0.1
3	5.0 ±0.1	9.0 ±0.1	0.24±0.04	1.7 ±0.1	0.5 ±0.1

Table 2-2 Carbohydrate composition of auto-PHL after various prehydrolysis

times



Fig. 2-1 Effect of prehydrolysis time on furfural production in the auto-PHL

2.3.3 Effect of sulfuric acid concentration on furfural dehydration in the auto-PHL

Conversion of xylose to furfural under acidic conditions using sulfuric acid follows the dehydration reaction mechanism shown in Fig. 2-2. This mechanism shows that a high concentration of an acid catalyst will be effective for furfural production until an optimum point is reached. As shown in Fig. 2-3, it was confirmed that by increasing the sulfuric acid concentration, the furfural concentration increased after the dehydration reaction. By using a dehydration reaction time of 2 h and a sulfuric acid concentration of 6% with the PHL, the furfural concentration in the product from the auto-PHL increased from 17 to 670 ppm. In this case, furfural production represented 0.47% of the EFB material weight.



Fig. 2-2 Dehydration of xylose to furfural under acidic conditions



 \Box 1 h dehydration reaction \Box 2 h dehydration reaction

Fig. 2-3 Effect of sulfuric acid concentration on furfural production in the dehydration of auto-PHL

2.3.4 Effect of nitric acid prehydrolysis on furfural production from EFB

Next, utilization of a strong acid as a catalyst for furfural production was studied. By applying a nitric acid prehydrolysis method (2.7% of nitric acid concentration of the starting liquor: $32\% \div 12$), the furfural yield reached 0.1% of the EFB raw material weight. The effect of sulfuric acid concentration during the 1 h dehydration reaction of the nitric acid PHL is shown in Fig. 3-4. Under these conditions, the furfural concentration increased from 98 to 5200 ppm, which means that the furfural yield increased to 6.2% of the EFB raw material weight.



Fig. 2-4 Effect of sulfuric acid concentration on furfural production in the 1 h dehydration of nitric acid PHL

2.3.5 Preparation of Elemental Chlorine-Free (ECF) bleached pulp from nitric acid prehydrolysis soda pulp

Solid residue from the nitric acid prehydrolysis process was subjected to soda cooking under atmospheric pressure. The properties of the unbleached pulp were compared with those of the auto-prehydrolysis soda-AQ pulp (Table 2-3). The nitric acid prehydrolysis process provided a brighter unbleached pulp (58.3% ISO), but its viscosity was low (13.1 cP) when compared with that from the autoprehydrolysis process. The kappa number of the unbleached pulp (6.8) was lower than that of the auto-prehydrolysis soda-AQ pulp (9.6). These differences could be due to nitric acid prehydrolysis assisting the degradation and dissolution of lignin during soda cooking.

Auto prehydrolysis followed by the soda cooking process has been proposed as a suitable method for the preparation of DP from EFB, and the optimum variables for soda cooking were statistically determined to be 161°C for 100 min with an alkali level of 26.1%, to attain a pulp with a screened yield of 31.2%, a kappa number of 6.0, and a viscosity of 16.1 cP [26]. AQ facilitates delignification under alkaline conditions, and improves yield and pulp properties [27,28]. In this study, auto-prehydrolysis for 3 h followed by soda-AQ cooking with a 20% AA dosage was selected as control conditions [29].

Nitric acid prehydrolysis soda pulp was subjected to the ECF bleaching sequence. The utilization of ECF bleaching instead of chlorine bleaching significantly lowers the quantity of organochlorine substances released in effluent streams. However, ECF bleaching still releases organochlorine compounds in the form of chloroform from bleaching and wastewater treatment processes. The partial substitution of chlorine dioxide in ECF bleaching with P_{sa} will eliminate adsorbable organic halogen (AOX) emissions in effluents and the amount of organochlorine substances found in the air [30]. P_{sa} treatment will also affect pulp quality by reducing the hexenuronic acid content, lowering the pulp kappa number, and reducing the lignin content, which are associated with acceptable pulp viscosity and brightness improvements [31,32].

The trends in viscosity loss and increases in brightness during the ECF bleaching sequence of the nitric acid prehydrolysis soda pulp are shown in Fig. 3-5. As shown in Table 3-4, the viscosity of the DP obtained from the nitric acid

17

prehydrolysis soda pulp was 6.5 cP with a brightness of 90.4% ISO; thus, this bleached pulp met the National Standard of Indonesia [33]. However, as the pulp still contained 8.6% xylan, it is not suitable to be used as DP (usually <4.0% of xylan), and the bleaching conditions need to be further improved.

In a previous study [29], Harsono et al. reported that the α -cellulose content of the ECF-bleached pulp from auto-prehydrolysis soda-AQ pulp was 98.6%, which is inconsistent with the current results for nitric acid prehydrolysis soda pulp. The author used different methods to measure the qualities of the final products, with the glucan and xylan contents determined by IC in the current study and the weight of the α -cellulose content obtained by extraction with 17.5% NaOH in the previous work.

The α -cellulose of the EFB pulps in this study was lower than 98.6%, and this value reported in the previous study is incorrect. The author corrects an error in α -cellulose content in the previous study for the ECF-bleached pulp from the prehydrolysis soda-AQ pulp, which contained a similar amount of xylan to that from the nitric acid prehydrolysis soda pulp.

 Table 2-3 Properties of unbleached pulps from nitric acid prehydrolysis soda

 cooking and auto-prehydrolysis soda-AQ cooking

	Cooking	Pulp yield	Kappa	Brightness	Viscosity
	e	1.2		U	2
	tomp $(^{\circ}C)$	(0(4))	numbor	(0/ ISO)	$(\mathbf{p}\mathbf{D})$
	temp. (C)	(70)	number	(% 150)	(Cr)
Nitric acid hydrolysis soda pulp	104 ± 2	34.3 ± 0.1	6.8 ± 0.1	58.3 ± 0.4	13.1 ±0.3
Auto mechydrolygig godo AO myln	160 12	21.1 +0.1	0.6 ± 0.1	515 06	22.1 ± 0.1
Auto-prenydrorysis soda-AQ pulp	100 ± 2	51.1 ± 0.1	9.0 ± 0.1	34.3 ± 0.0	25.1 ± 0.1



Fig. 2-5 Brightness and viscosity profile of nitric acid prehydrolysis soda pulp during P_{sa} - D_0 - E_p - D_1 bleaching

Table 2-4 Properties of ECF-bleached pulp from nitric acid prehydrolysis soda

 cooking

COOKIIIg					
Brightness	Viscosity	Ash	α-Cellulose	Glucan	Xylan
(% ISO)	(cP)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)
90.4 ±0.3	6.5 ±0.1	0.14 ±0.01	83.0 ±0.1	83.5 ±0.1	8.6 ±0.4

2.3.6 Dealing with waste nitric acid after prehydrolysis

In this study, the author tried to utilize the nitric acid liquor to produce furfural by a dehydration reaction. From the nitrogen content of the solid residue after nitric acid prehydrolysis (0.98% with a standard deviation of 0.01, we estimated the gaseous components of the vapor in the nitric acid reactor. There was approximately four times more dinitrogen monoxide (N₂O), which can be isolated and used for other purposes, than the sum of NO and NO₂. In addition, CO and CO₂ were detected. Based on the analysis of nitrate (NO₃⁻) in the nitric acid PHL we can assume a nitrogen balance for the process, as shown in **Fig. 3-6**. As a next step in this project, the author believes that the processes should be developed to recover and reuse the majority of nitric acid used in this process.



Fig. 2-6 Nitric acid balance of the proposed process and how to deal with the nitric acid PHL

2.4 Conclusions

As a bio-refinement method for oil palm EFB, nitric acid prehydrolysis soda cooking demonstrated that a furfural yield from the PHL was 6.2% of EFB material weight. The pulp demonstrated a brightness of 90.4% ISO and a viscosity of 6.5 cP, which were acceptable according to the Indonesian National Standard after ECF bleaching with P_{sa} - D_0 - E_p - D_1 sequence using peroxymonosulfuric acid, chlorine dioxide, and hydrogen peroxide.

Chapter 3 A Consequential Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) Approach in the Development of Integrated Oil Palm Empty Fruit Bunch (EFB)-based Dissolving Pulp and Furfural Production

3.1 Introduction

In the previous Chapter, dissolving pulp and furfural successfully produced from oil palm empty fruit bunch (EFB) in the laboratory scale. The feasibility of the EFB utilization to substitute the conventional process of dissolving pulp and furfural production was necessary. In this Chapter, the proposed processes of integrated dissolving pulp and furfural feasibility study was done through environmental consideration.

Production of dissolving pulp mostly depends on wood, which depletes forest resources drastically. To prevent the exploitation of wood resources, a comprehensive approach is required considering waste materials for co-producing dissolving pulp and furfural accounting with environmental impacts. Palm oil mills produce biomass wastes such as empty fruit bunch (EFB), oil palm fronds, oil palm trunks, palm kernel shells, and palm mesocarp fibers. Pulp production can be replaced with waste-based material such as EFB from oil palm mills. EFB is the main biomass product of the palm mill, but most of the waste is discarded at the plantation site without any value-added processing.

Several technologies are being developed for EFB utilization, but the only existing commercial technology is fertilizer production by the composting process [34,35,36,37]. Meanwhile, the development of biorefinery products from EFB is promising. The chemical composition of EFB consists mostly of cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin, shown in comparison with the composition of wood material in Table 3-1. Each of these chemical components from EFB can be used
to produce valuable products. A description of the biorefinery products derived from EFB is described in Fig. 3-1.

		Lignin	Cellulose	Hemicellulose	Extractive	Ash	Unknown
Mat	Material		(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)
EFB		31.0	31.1	17.5	8.6	5.5	6.3
	E. globulus	27.6	49.4	15.3	0.6	-	7.1
Wood ^[38]	A. mearnsii	24.5	49.2	19.3	1.2	-	5.8
	A. hybrid*	30.3	49.2	13.8	1.5	-	5.2

Table 3-1 Chemical characterization of EFB compare to wood

* A. mangium and auriculiformis



Fig. 3-1 Potential biorefinery products from EFB based on its chemical

component

Utilization of EFB in pulp production began in 2003 when the first pulp mill using palm oil-based raw materials was set up in East Malaysia (Sabah) by the Forest Research Institute of Malaysia and Borneo Advanced Sdn. Bhd., a pulp and paper manufacturer [4], using a soda cooking process to produce EFB pulp. Sharma et al. later produced EFB pulp in a soda-anthraquinone (AQ) pilot-scale plant for ECF bleaching [39]. The production of pulp from non-wood materials such as EFB has many advantages. Non-wood materials are more easily delignified than softwood, contain fine fibers that can be used for high-quality bleached pulp like dissolving pulp, effective to substitute wood resources, and reduce the energy requirement for production [40].

Dissolving pulp is a raw material for cellulosic fibers (rayon and acetate), used as an alternative to cotton, specialty papers (photographic papers, filters), and viscose clothing and hygiene products [41]. Generally, in high-grade dissolving pulp products, a purification method, such as prehydrolysis [11], prealkaline extraction [42], hot caustic extraction, and cold caustic extraction [43], are necessary.

Currently, the fresh pulp for dissolving pulp production is only derived from wood raw materials, and the wood dissolving pulp industry is far more established than the non-wood dissolving pulp industry [44]. Generally, the production of dissolving pulp from wood uses acid sulfite cooking or prehydrolysis/ kraft cooking process. Because non-wood biomass is one of renewable resources, nonwood biomass is potentially becoming a complement to wood as raw material, minimizing the environmental impact, increasing sustainability, and reducing the pressure on industrial forestry. Global dissolving pulp capacity was 7.6 million tons at the end of 2017 [45]. The top six producers, including Sappi, Aditya Birla, Lenzing, Sun Paper, Bracell, and Rayonier produce 55.5% of the global production. In Indonesia, PT Asia Pacific Rayon located at the Riau province, which is expected to be the largest dissolving pulp manufacturer in Indonesia, started manufacturing dissolving pulp with a production capacity of 350,000 tons per year [46]. The second-largest manufacturer in Indonesia is PT Toba Pulp Lestari, located at the North Sumatra Province with a 240,000 tons per year production capacity [47].

Several researchers have had an interest in the development of dissolving pulp from non-wood materials. The dissolving pulp was produced from sugarcane bagasse and bamboo by using prehydrolysis/ soda cooking and ECF bleaching process [9,10]. It also can be produced from the banana stem by using three kinds of cooking processes (kraft, alkaline sulfite-AQ, and soda-AQ) [48]. These products were also processed by prehydrolysis before cooking, followed by the ECF bleaching process. The dissolving pulp from EFB was produced using the prehydrolysis/ soda-AQ cooking and the ECF bleaching process [29]. Integrated dissolving pulp and furfural were produced using nitric acid prehydrolysis/ soda cooking and the ECF bleaching process in the Chapter 2. However, these researches reported only the process of pulp production without refereeing environmental impact due to uses of *waste-to-product* on large scale.

Producing integrated dissolving pulp and other biorefinery products increase environmental performance because of the utilization of waste in the process as raw material. A potential product, furfural can also be integrated into the dissolving pulp production process. Furfural is a selective solvent used for separating saturated compounds from unsaturated compounds in petroleum refining, oil, gas, and diesel fuel. It is in high demand because of its derivatives, particularly furfuryl alcohol, which is used as a precursor for furan resin [17,49]. Furfural is produced from a prehydrolysis liquor that still contains a large amount of hemicellulose. Fig. 3-2 describes the derivation and utilization of furfural in the industry. Researchers have studied the production of furfural from the prehydrolysis liquor of dissolving pulp production process from conventional wood sources [11,50,51].



Fig. 3-2 Furfural derivatives and their application in the industry

There is a significant potential to utilize EFB waste to produce furfural without competing natural wood sources. In this regard, consequential LCA (cLCA) has the merit to analyze the production capability of furfural from EFB and environmental impacts.

LCA has received research attention in the last few years [52,53]. Researchers have included LCA in their feasibility studies for pulp production from wood sources [41,54,55,56,57]. There are two approaches in the LCA study, attributional LCA (aLCA) and cLCA. The aLCA provides information focused on the relevant physical flows to and from a product's life cycle system. The system investigated is limited to a single full life cycle from *cradle-to-grave* [58]. The cLCA describes the consequences of changes in the level of output (and consumption and disposal) of a product, including effects both on the inside and outside of the product's life cycle [59,60]. In our best knowledge, there are no researches were taken the LCA approach for EFB, which has significant importance to produce dissolving pulp and furfural. Thus, it is necessary to include the LCA perspective in EFB utilization for integrated dissolving pulp and furfural production to understand the environmental impacts with indicators of global warming potential, acidification potential, eutrophication potential and human toxicity potential due to uses of EFB waste. Therefore, the purpose of this Chapter is to assess the environmental impacts of dissolving pulp production processes from EFB using LCA methodology to report the indicators. It was beneficial to prove EFB as an alternative raw material for the dissolving pulp industry.

3.2 Materials and methods

3.2.1 Material and location for cLCA model

In the proposed scenario, EFB was used as a raw material to substitute wood in the production of dissolving pulp and furfural as co-product. The current leading dissolving pulp industry in Indonesia is in Riau Province, which also had the largest oil palm plantation in Indonesia with a total area of 2.4 million hectares [61]. The most productive area in Indonesia was distributed throughout Sumatra and Kalimantan (Fig. 3-3, [61]). The proximity of the raw material supplier and dissolving pulp mill location in the same province was advantageous for the use of EFB as a resource in dissolving pulp production in Indonesia.



Fig. 3-3 Oil palm plantation distribution areas and dissolving pulp industry location in Indonesia [62]

- 1: Dissolving pulp mill in Riau Province (capacity 350,000 t/y),
- 2: Dissolving pulp mill in North Sumatra Province (capacity 240,000 t/y)

3.2.2 Goal and scope

The goal of this study is to quantify the environmental impact of three scenarios for dissolving pulp production compared to the existing practice in Riau Province. In the Scenario 1, 50% of the wood consumption was replaced by EFB using acid prehydrolysis/soda cooking followed by ECF bleaching, with an additional system process to co-produce furfural. In the Scenario 2, 100% of wood consumption was replaced by EFB, with cooking and bleaching parameters are the same as those in the Scenario 1. In the Scenario 3, 100% of wood consumption was replaced by EFB and the acid prehydrolysis was replaced by water prehydrolysis to improve the total environmental performance with the same cooking and bleaching conditions as the previous scenarios. The consequential approach followed the system expansion from the forest or plantation to the final co-products of the dissolving pulp and furfural was used in this LCA study.

3.2.3 Basis for inventory data collection

The field survey was conducted in the dissolving pulp mill in Riau Province in order to collect the key information related to the production of dissolving pulp from wood chips and to confirm the feasibility of EFB-based dissolving pulp in the large-scale production. The operational parameters related to direct inputoutput inventory analysis in this conventional dissolving pulp mill, such as pulp yield, chemical dosage, prehydrolysis, cooking, and bleaching processes, were observed and used in the inventory analysis.

In this study, the commercial dissolving pulp yield based on wood chips raw material was 40%. The chemicals used to produce dissolving pulp were sodium

hydroxide, sodium sulfide, chlorine dioxide, and hydrogen peroxide. The three main processes in the conventional production of dissolving pulp were prehydrolysis, kraft cooking, and ECF bleaching. The water was the only input material in the prehydrolysis process. However, the cooking and bleaching processes consumed large amounts of chemicals. In this process production, the prehydrolysis liquor was discarded without any value-adding process.

In the proposed scenario, the dissolving pulp was produced from EFB by following the key data obtained in the laboratory-scale experiment. This method was conducted because an EFB-based commercial-scale dissolving pulp production has not been established yet. The engineering approach in the inventory analysis for the LCA calculation was conducted for the proposed largescale development. Based on the data obtained in the laboratory-scale experiment, the dissolving pulp yield of 34% based on EFB raw material was slightly lower than that of the wood-based process. In the case of EFB raw material, the milder process condition can be applied to produce dissolving pulp. The EFB-based dissolving pulp production process was divided into two pathways in this study. The first pathway, used in the Scenario 1 and 2, consisted of acid prehydrolysis, soda cooking, and ECF bleaching processes. The process of acid prehydrolysis used 32% of nitric acid consumption based on EFB weight to increase the degradation of hemicellulose into xylose, which was important to obtain more furfural. The second pathway, used in the Scenario 3, consisted of prehydrolysis, soda-AQ cooking, and ECF bleaching. The details of all the processes in this study are described in Table 3-2.

Process stage	Process condition			
<u>Prehydrolysis</u>				
Prehydrolysis	Water to wood ratio: 4: T: 150 °C: t: 180 min			
(for wood)	Water to wood failo. 4, 1. 150 °C, t. 100 mm			
Prehydrolysis	Water to FFB ratio: 7: T: 150 °C: t: 180 min			
(for EFB)				
Acid prehydrolysis	Water to EFB ratio: 12; T: 96 °C; t: 75 min; HNO ₃ dosage: 32% based on EFB			
<u>Cooking</u>				
Kraft	Water to wood ratio: 4; T: 150 °C; t: 180 min; AA: 18% based on wood; sulfidity: 30%			
Soda	Water to EFB ratio: 7; T: 104 °C; t: 180 min; AA: 20% based on EFB			
Soda-AQ	Water to EFB ratio: 7; T: 160 °C; t: 180 min; AA: 20% based on EFB; AQ dosage: 0.1% based on EFB			
ECF bleaching				
P _{sa}	H ₂ SO ₅ dosage*: 0.2% based on pulp; T: 70 °C; t: 60 min; PC: 10%			
\mathbf{D}_0	kappa factor: 0.30; T: 70 °C; t: 60 min; PC: 10%			
Ep	NaOH dosage: 1% based on pulp; H ₂ O ₂ dosage: 1.4%; T: 70 °C; t: 60 min; PC: 10%			
D ₁	ClO ₂ dosage: 0.3% based on pulp; T: 70 °C; t: 60 min; PC: 10%			

Table 3-2 Technical data of process conditions for direct inputs and outputs

Psa: Peroxymonosulfuric acid bleaching

D₀: First chlorine dioxide bleaching

E_p: Alkaline peroxide bleaching

D₁: Second chlorine dioxide bleaching

AQ: Anthraquinone

AA: Active alkali

PC: Pulp consistency

* H₂SO₅ was synthesized from H₂O₂ and H₂SO₄

3.2.4 Life cycle inventory (LCI) analysis

In this study, the cLCA was performed by following the ISO 14040 methodology to evaluate the comparison of environmental performance of EFB-based and wood-based dissolving pulp productions. Input-output inventory related to direct EFB dissolving pulp production (foreground process) was based on bench-scale experimental data in the Chapter 2, the previous publication [29] and literature review [54,62]. EcoInvent and Agri-footprint databases have been used for the background data system inventory in the LCA calculation. Input-output inventories for direct energy and materials used in all production processes have been described in Table 3-3.

	TT. */	Wood	EFB	EFB	
	Unit	(PH-K-ECF)	(APH-S-ECF)	(PH-S-ECF)	
Input					
Material					
Pulpwood, 50 % M.C	kg	4.500	-	-	
EFB, 50 % M.C	kg	-	5.294	5.294	
Na ₂ S	kg	0.153	-	-	
H_2O_2	kg	0.013	0.013	0.013	
NaOH for cooking	kg	0.366	0.683	0.683	
NaOH for bleaching	kg	0.009	0.009	0.009	
Chlorine dioxide	kg	0.032	0.032	0.031	
HNO ₃	kg	-	0.847	-	
Water	m ³	0.045	0.086	0.073	
Sulfuric acid	kg	-	1.906	1.112	
Anthraquinone	kg	-	-	0.003	
Urea (as consequential effect)	kg	-	0.016	0.016	
Energy					
Electricity	kWh	0.433	0.408	0.443	
Steam	kWh	3.083	1.750	2.222	
Transportation					
Truck	t km	0.225	0.265	0.265	
Output					
Dissolving pulp (a.d)	kg	1.000	1.000	1.000	
Furfural	kg	-	0.159	0.011	
N ₂ O (by-product)	kg	-	0.106	-	
Black liquor (waste)	kg	Recovered	18.529	18.529	
Emission					
CO ₂ fossil	kg	0.100	-	-	
CO ₂ biogenic	kg	2.690	0.079	0.079	
NO _x	kg	0.002	Recovered	-	

Table 3-3 Direct inputs and outputs of 1 kg dissolving pulp production from

wood and EFB raw material

M.C: Moisture Content; a.d: air dried; PH-K-ECF: Prehydrolysis/ kraft cooking followed by ECF bleaching; APH-S-ECF: Acid prehydrolysis/ soda cooking followed by ECF bleaching; PH-S-ECF: Water prehydrolysis/ soda-AQ cooking followed by ECF bleaching

3.2.5 Consequential approach

Fig. 3-4 shows a system boundary of the cLCA approach for the proposed integrated dissolving pulp and furfural production from EFB. This conventional dissolving pulp production process was assumed to be replaced by a proposed process. In the existing condition, EFB was used for soil nutrients in the oil palm plantation. The EFB utilization shifting into dissolving pulp and furfural production will affect the total amount of chemical fertilizer. Oil palm plantation in Indonesia mostly still used chemical fertilizer as a major source of nutrients. The environmental impact of all system process (investigated and substitute process) was quantified.



Fig. 3-4 Consequential approach system boundary in the proposed dissolving pulp and furfural production scenario

3.2.6 Environmental impact analysis

Several environmental impact categories have been quantified, such as Acidification Potential (AP), Global Warming Potential (GWP100), Eutrophication Potential (EP), and Human Toxicity Potential (HTP). AP, expressed as kg SO₂ equivalent, includes acidification due to fertilizer use, according to the method developed by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). Climate change caused by greenhouse gases is represented by GWP, measured in kg CO₂ equivalent. This parameter is frequently expressed over various time spans, with the most common being the GWP100 (100 years). Eutrophication is the over-accumulation of nutrients in aquatic systems. It is indicated by the increment of nitrogen and phosphorus concentrations and is expressed as kg N equivalent and kg PO4³⁻ equivalent, respectively. Human toxicity is the toxic effects that chemicals have on humans. Generally, it is expressed as kg 1,4-DB equivalent [63,64,65]. The software used for the environmental impact analysis in this study was SimaPro v8.0.5® from Pré-sustainability with *Centrum voor Milieuwetenschappen Leiden* (CML) as an environmental impact assessment method. cLCA calculation was conducted using the following equation.

 $Environmental Impact = \Sigma \{ (E_p \times f_{substance}) - (E_s \times f_{substance}) \}$ (3-1)

Here, E_p is the emission through identified product chain (kg/kg functional unit), E_s is the emission from substituted product chain (kg/kg functional unit) and $f_{substance}$ is the characterization factor for each emission.

3.2.7 Limitation of LCA study

Because most of the proposed scenarios inventory data originate from labscale experiments, the various parameters for scaling-up to the industrial scale alters the result of environmental impact. The sensitivity analysis was performed for the electricity and steam inputs for the proposed scenarios in the range of 10% above and below of the base value to show the effect of the difference in steam and electricity inputs on the alteration of the total cLCA result. The replacement of wood-based feedstock by EFB-based feedstock is still in the initial phase, so the EFB-based dissolving pulp production using the soda pulping process still has opportunities for improvement.

3.3 Results and discussion

3.3.1 Environmental impact assessment for the existing condition of dissolving pulp production from wood

The environmental impact of the existing process of dissolving pulp production from wood raw material was studied for Riau Province. In Fig. 3-5, the existing conditions of EFB and dissolving pulp production were simulated based on the field observations, laboratory inventory datasets and literatures. Dissolving pulp production capacity in Riau Province is 350,000 tons per year which requires 35,118 ha of wood forest. This scenario shows environmental impact of 9.16 ×10⁸ kg CO₂ eq of GWP100, 5.75×10^6 kg SO₂ eq of AP, 1.50×10^6 kg PO4³⁻ eq of EP, and 2.66×10^8 kg 1,4-DB eq of HTP per year. Riau Province produces 8.9 million tons per year of EFB that potentially could be used for dissolving pulp production. Currently, EFB is discarded without any further processing.



Fig. 3-5 LCI analysis and environmental impact assessment for palm oil existing condition and prehydrolysis/ kraft cooking process for dissolving pulp production in Riau Province

Furthermore, EFB utilization for biomass valorization purposes, such as dissolving pulp production, is promising in the near future. The sulfur-free pulping system using a soda process can be applied for EFB delignification. One advantage of using a non-wood raw material such as EFB is that this material is easier to delignify than wood. A prehydrolysis process is necessary for eliminating hemicellulose. An excessive amount of hemicellulose, particularly xylan, can cause poor filterability of viscose and discoloration of viscose products [66,67]. On using acid prehydrolysis, more hemicellulose is degraded and dissolved into the liquor. A sufficient amount of xylose and xylo-oligomer in the

prehydrolysis liquor can be used for producing furfural as a co-product. Currently, Indonesia imports 1,100 tons per year of furfural for various purposes.

The main direct material inputs for producing dissolving pulp from wood are water, sodium hydroxide, hydrogen peroxide, and chlorine dioxide. Table 4-2 shows the input-output inventories of direct materials and energy for dissolving pulp production.

3.3.2 Environmental impact assessment for proposed integrated process for dissolving pulp and furfural production

In the cLCA approach, the utilization of EFB waste to produce dissolving pulp affects the consumption of wood for producing dissolving pulp. This consequence was assumed as compensation for dissolving pulp production using EFB. Additionally, the co-production of furfural has the benefit of being a substitute material for commercial furfural. The simulations of EFB utilization for dissolving pulp and furfural production are shown in Figs. 3-6 and 3-7.



Fig. 3-6 LCI analysis and environmental impact assessment for 50% of wood

replaced by EFB with acid prehydrolysis/ soda cooking for dissolving pulp

production (Scenario 1)



Fig. 3-7 LCI analysis and environmental impact assessment for the 100% of wood replaced by EFB with acid prehydrolysis/ soda cooking for dissolving pulp production (Scenario 2)

This proposed process can reduce environmental impact. In the existing condition, for producing 1 kg of dissolving pulp turned out 0.0164 kg SO₂ eq of AP, 2.62 kg CO₂ eq of GWP100, 0.0043 kg PO₄³⁻ eq of EP, and 0.760 kg 1,4-DB eq of HTP. In the consequential approach, by using the proposed Scenarios 1 and 2, AP decreased to 0.0087 kg SO₂ eq and 0.0010 kg SO₂ eq, respectively; GWP100 decreased to 1.81 kg CO₂ eq and 1.01 kg CO₂ eq, respectively; EP decreased to 0.0026 kg PO₄³⁻ eq and 0.0009 kg PO₄³⁻ eq, respectively; HTP decreased to 0.41 kg 1,4-DB eq and 0.07 kg 1,4-DB eq, respectively. Fig. 3-9 shows the environmental impact analysis results for each scenario based on 1 kg of dissolving pulp product as the functional unit.

This proposed process has another advantage in the case of furfural coproduction that can potentially satisfy the furfural demand in Indonesia. If furfural demand is covered by the co-production process, the environmental impact caused by imported furfural could be eliminated, as shown in Figs. 3-6 and 3-7. However, these proposed processes (Scenarios 1 and 2) decreased the dissolving pulp quality, especially the α -cellulose content. The dissolving pulp quality for each scenario is shown in Table 3-3. Another cooking process scenario would be necessary to increase the dissolving pulp quality to solve this problem.

Table 3-4 Dissolving pulp quality, furfural quantity, and environmental impact

	Dissolving Pulp Quality			Furfural	LCA result per year				
Scenario	α-cellulose	Viscosity	Brightness	Ash content	Quantity	AP	GWP100	EP	HTP
	(%)	(cP)	(%ISO)	(%)	(t/y)				
Existing	> 90.0%	> 6.2	> 88.0	< 0.15	-	5.75x10 ⁶	9.16x10 ⁸	1.50x10 ⁶	2.66x10 ⁸
	Good	Good	Good	Good					
	> 90.0%	> 6.2	> 88.0	< 0.15					
1	83.0	6.5	90.4	0.14	27,794	4.66x10 ⁶	6.34x10 ⁸	0.91×10^{6}	1.44x10 ⁸
	Low	Good	Good	Good					
2	83.0	6.5	90.4	0.14	55,588	0.36x10 ⁶	8	0.33x10 ⁶	0.23x10 ⁸
	Low	Good	Good	Good			3.52x10		
2	96.4*	8.5	90.7	0.14	2 705	6	8	6	8
3	Good	Good	Good	Good	3,705	-2.01x10	-4.26x10	-0.73x10	-0.19x10

for each scenario

Existing: Wood prehydrolysis/ kraft cooking followed by ECF bleaching

Scenario 1: Wood prehydrolysis/ kraft cooking followed by ECF bleaching (50%)

EFB acid prehydrolysis/ soda cooking followed by ECF bleaching (50%)

Scenario 2: EFB acid prehydrolysis/ soda cooking followed by ECF bleaching

Scenario 3: EFB water prehydrolysis/ soda-AQ cooking followed by ECF bleaching

Furfural production process: Dehydration + Distillation

AP: Acidification Potential in kg SO2 eq

GWP100: Global Warming Potential in kg CO2 eq

EP: Eutrophication Potential in kg PO₄³⁻ eq

HTP: Human Toxicity Potential in kg 1,4-DB eq

* [68]

3.3.3 Environmental impact contributor identification

Fig. 3-10 shows the environmental impact contributors in the production of 1 kg of dissolving pulp for each scenario. The major environmental impact contributor in the existing process is energy (electricity and steam), which contributes more than 60% of the total environmental impact value in the existing process scenario. Therefore, it is necessary to improve environmental performance by reducing electricity usage in the dissolving pulp production.

As mentioned before, the major environmental impact contributor is energy. The nitric acid prehydrolysis process can save the energy required for the soda cooking conducted at 104°C. However, nitric acid in the prehydrolysis process also contributes a significant environmental impact. Acidic conditions in the prehydrolysis process will provide sufficient amount of xylose for producing furfural as a co-product to produce more revenue. To improve environmental performance, replacing the nitric acid prehydrolysis with a water prehydrolysis process is an appropriate option.

3.3.4 Environmental impact assessment simulation of the improvement of the proposed process of integrated dissolving pulp and furfural production from EFB

Dissolving pulp quality can be improved by using a water prehydrolysis process (Scenario 3) instead of the nitric acid prehydrolysis. Table 3-4 shows that the α -cellulose content increased from 83.0% (Chapter 2) to 96.4% [68] upon using the water prehydrolysis (auto-hydrolysis by steaming) process. Moreover, this proposed process can reduce the environmental impact, as shown in Fig. 3-8. Scenario 3 is the most promising scenario of this study with negative environmental impact in the consequential approach, contributing -1.2178 kg CO₂ eq of GWP100, -0.0057 kg SO₂ eq of AP, -0.0021 kg PO_4^{3-} eq of EP, and -0.0538 kg 1,4-DB eq of HTP for producing 1 kg of dissolving pulp with 0.01 kg furfural co-production.



Fig. 3-8 LCI analysis and environmental impact assessment for proposed process with improvement by water prehydrolysis process (Scenario 3) to replace acid prehydrolysis process (Scenario 2)

However, Scenario 3 reduces the furfural co-product from 55,588 t/y to 3,705 t/y under the same conditions as Scenario 2. Acidic condition is necessary to obtain a high amount of hemicellulose required to produce furfural. Based on the furfural demand in Indonesia, this scenario is still sufficient to fulfill the demand.



Existing: Wood prehydrolysis/ kraft cooking followed by ECF bleaching

Scenario 1: Wood prehydrolysis/ kraft cooking followed by ECF bleaching (50%)

EFB acid prehydrolysis/ soda cooking followed by ECF bleaching (50%)

Scenario 2: EFB acid prehydrolysis/ soda cooking followed by ECF bleaching

Scenario 3: EFB water prehydrolysis/ soda-AQ cooking followed by ECF bleaching

- **AP: Acidification Potential**
- GWP100: Global Warming Potential
- **EP: Eutrophication Potential**
- HTP: Human Toxicity Potential

Fig. 3-9 Environmental impact assessment for 1 kg of dissolving pulp production (including furfural co-production in the proposed scenario 1, 2 and 3)



Fig. 3-10 Environmental impact contributor for 1 kg of dissolving pulp production in each scenario (including furfural co-production in the proposed

scenario 1,2 and 3)

3.3.5 Effect of EFB utilization for integrated dissolving pulp and furfural production to additional agrochemical fertilizer usage

As shown in Figs. 3-6 to 3-8, EFB utilization for dissolving pulp and furfural production is 926,471 t/y for scenario 1 and 1,852,941 t/y for other scenarios. It was equivalent to 386.0 kg/ha/y and 772.1 kg/ha/y EFB that can be used for fertilizer, respectively. As a fertilizer, 1 ton of EFB is equivalent to 6.1 kg Urea [69]. Thus, an additional 0.001 t/ha/y Urea needs to be applied in Scenario 1 and 0.002 t/ha/y Urea for other scenarios. The environmental impact from this additional Urea is 8.88×10^6 kg CO₂ eq of GWP100, 5.97×10^4 kg SO₂ eq of AP, 1.94×10^4 kg PO₄³⁻ eq of EP, and 5.53×10^6 kg 1,4-DB eq of HTP per

year. Based on this result, the increment of agrochemical fertilizer that was affected by the utilization of EFB for integrated dissolving pulp and furfural production was not significant. Moreover, oil palm plantation in Indonesia mostly still used chemical fertilizer as a major source of nutrients.

3.3.6 Sensitivity analysis on production process energy input for proposed scenarios

At the life cycle inventory level, the field survey and lab-scale experimental data used for material input can minimize uncertainty in the life cycle inventory level. According to the field survey in the conventional dissolving pulp production, the process conditions in the lab-scale experiment in this study were applicable in the industrial-scale. However, the uncertainty emerged from the energy input since it was collected from the literatures.

To investigate the influence of electricity and steam input parameters on environmental impact result, a sensitivity analysis was performed in the range of a 10% change in electricity and steam inputs. The additional environmental impact calculations were performed in the range of 10% above and below the baseline steam and electricity values shown in the life cycle inventory. The sensitivity analysis (Fig. 3-11) shows that within the same perspective, the HTP environmental impact category was significantly affected by a 10% difference in electricity and steam input. However, the climate change environmental impact category, such as GWP100, was not affected. The background data for electricity and steam production in this study were based on the EcoInvent LCI database.



-10% electricity input +10% electricity input



Fig. 3-11 Sensitivity analysis on production process energy input for proposed

scenarios

3.3.7 Implication of LCA results for dissolving pulp industry decision support

The breakdown of the overall environmental impact in the existing and proposed scenarios through the consequential approach can satisfy industrial level decision-makers. Our analysis and study showed that the application of EFB as a raw material for valuable biorefinery products, such as dissolving pulp and furfural, were attractive based on the environmental point of view. For the palm oil industry, this proposed technology provides an alternative for EFB valorization. Additionally, the sustainability of the production of dissolving pulp in Indonesia will increase by the utilization of EFB as raw material while maintaining the quality of dissolving pulp. Moreover, other perspectives on the utilization of prehydrolysis liquor waste for furfural production are economically and environmentally attractive.

3.4 Conclusions

This research was conducted to propose EFB as the substitute of wood to produce dissolving pulp and furfural, which environmentally sustainable and economically profitable. The scenarios were proposed and compared with existing practice. The cLCA was conducted to evaluate Scenario 1 (50% of wood consumption was replaced by EFB), Scenario 2 (100% wood consumption was replaced EFB) and Scenario 3 (100% of wood consumption was replaced by EFB with environmental improvement in the prehydrolysis process). Scenario 3 was observed as the most promising scenario of this research. Moreover, the process in Scenario 3 maintains a dissolving pulp quality similar to that obtained using wood as raw material. Increasing the added value of EFB and decreasing the wood demand are key points of this development in addition to the environmental considerations. Furthermore, the environmental impact considering GWP, AP, EP and HTP were less compared to Scenario 1, 2 and existing practice. Therefore, in the commercial scale, EFB could be utilized for producing dissolving pulp and furfural production considering Scenario 3.

Chapter 4 Oil Palm Empty Fruit Bunch as A Promising Feedstock for Biorefinery Products in The Economic, Energy, and Environmental Consideration

4.1 Introduction

In the previous Chapter, the Scenario 3 was proved as the best scenario for dissolving pulp and furfural co-production based on environmental point of view. However, in the mass production, a comprehensive feasibility study based on cost and energy analysis was also needed. To overcome this problem, the technoeconomic assessment (TEA), life cycle costing (LCC), and cumulative energy demand (CED) were done in this Chapter.



Fig. 4-1 CPO production process and EFB utilization scheme

Indonesian oil palm plantation areas are mainly located in Sumatra and Kalimantan islands. The distribution of oil palm plantations in Indonesia is previously shown (Fig. 3-3). Riau Province possesses the largest oil palm plantation area among provinces in Indonesia, and there were 2.4 million ha of oil palm plantations in 2016 [61]. The oil palm fresh fruit bunch is used as a raw

material in crude palm oil (CPO) mills. The CPO mills in Indonesia release empty fruit bunch (EFB) as waste. The scheme of CPO production is shown in Fig. 4-1. Recently, EFB is used as an organic compost fertilizer in oil palm plantations [34,37].

Specifically, EFB is a rich carbon-source material that can be considered as a valuable material in the future. As shown in **Table 4-1**, the main chemical composition of EFB consists of cellulose, hemicellulose and lignin. Efforts focused on processing EFB into valuable products via mechanical and chemical treatments.

Composition based on dry weight EF						
Parameter	(%)					
	1	2 ^[70]	3 ^[29]			
Lignin	31.0	29.6	29.6			
Glucan	31.1	35.1	35.7			
Xylan	17.5	19.8	20.1			
Other sugars	0.8	1.9	1.6			
Extractive	8.6	5.4	7.1			
Ash	5.5	5.9	5.5			
Unknown	5.5	2.3	2.4			

 Table 4-1 Chemical composition of Empty Fruit Bunch (EFB)

Mechanical treatment such as drying, shredding and pressing the EFB into briquettes, is a possibility in the EFB valorization pathway [71,72]. The obstacle to the mechanical treatment is the high moisture content of EFB (approximately 50%) which in turn is inefficient.

Additionally, chemical treatment (for e.g., chemical cooking or pulping for converting EFB into valuable biorefinery products) can be promoted as opposed to mechanical treatment. The abundance of cellulose and hemicellulose in the EFB can be converted into biorefinery products such as dissolving pulp (cellulose pulp) and furfural from hemicellulose. Dissolving pulp is a raw material for cellulosic fibers and is used as an alternative to cotton, specialty papers, and viscose clothing [41]. Currently dissolving pulp production is only derived from wood-based raw materials. The dissolving pulp production was established since the 1950s via acid sulfite or prehydrolysis-kraft processes [3].

Additionally, furfural is a diversified product from hemicellulose and is identified as one of the top thirty platform chemicals that can be made from biomass [16]. It is used as a selective solvent for separating saturated compounds in petroleum refining. In extant studies, biomass is used for furfural production. It was produced from EFB [73], rice husk [74], corn cobs [75] and sorghum straw [76].

The market price of dissolving pulp and furfural exceeds that of compost fertilizer and briquette. However, it is necessary to prove that EFB-based biorefinery production is feasible. Feasibility studies on the production have been conducted in recent years [77,78], but a complete feasibility study should consider environmental, energy usage, and economic aspects.

54

An integrated life cycle assessment (LCA)-life cycle cost (LCC)-energy assessment can comprehensively provide a precise interpretation of the production system scenario for a company or decision-maker. Life-cycle thinking is required for the feasibility study. It is applied in LCA to assess the environmental impact of the product, in LCC to assess the cost of production through the product's life cycle, and in cumulative energy demand (CED) method to assess primary energy usage through the product life cycle following the LCA framework. The goal of the study is to evaluate EFB as a promising feedstock for dissolving pulp and furfural co-production while considering environmental effects, energy usage, and economic parameters.

The assessment of environmental effects and energy consumption in pulp and paper industry has been performed [57,79,80]. However, utilizing EFB as a raw material to substitute wood in dissolving pulp production and integrating economic analysis in the LCA framework are the novel contributions of the present study. The proposed EFB-based dissolving pulp production is still at the lab-scale development stage. However, the proposed process is necessary because non-wood dissolving pulp process production can lead to improved environmental outcomes [9,48].

4.2 Methodology

The LCA methodology was based on ISO 14040 to evaluate the environmental impact of EFB valorization as a raw material for biorefinery products such as dissolving pulp and furfural. The inventory data framework used to calculate LCA was used for economic and energy analysis of using LCC and CED, respectively. The overall methodology is shown in Fig. 4-2. The methodology consists of goal and scope definitions; environmental, economic and energy aspect assessments; and interpretation of each result.



Fig. 4-2 Scheme of the methodology in this research

4.2.1 Goal and scope

The goal of the feasibility study is to evaluate the environmental impact, CED and LCC of dissolving pulp production by using prehydrolysis/soda-AQ cooking followed by ECF bleaching (scenario 3 in the previous Chapter). This is necessary to prove that EFB is a promising feedstock for substituting wood chips in the dissolving pulp production process.

The LCA study followed system expansion from oil palm plantation and EFB extraction to dissolving pulp product and furfural co-product in the consequential approach. Fig. 3-4 shows a system boundary for the consequential life cycle framework for EFB to dissolving pulp production. This shows the proposed system boundary for dissolving pulp production from EFB that affects the conventional dissolving pulp production system. As previously mentioned, conventional dissolving pulp production is only derived from wood. The sustainability of the raw material must be considered. The selection of EFB as a raw material decreases the utilization of wood. This is a consequential point in the study.

4.2.2 Calculation

Functional unit determination as a basis calculation corresponds to the most important part of LCA, LCC, and CED studies. In the study, 1 kg of dissolving pulp was used as a functional unit. The baseline environmental impact categories, such as climate change or global warming potential (GWP) in kg CO₂ eq unit, eutrophication potential (EP) in kg PO₄³⁻ eq unit, acidification potential (AP) in kg SO₂ eq unit, and human toxicity potential (HTP) in kg 1,4-DB eq unit, were quantified. The GWP is related to emissions of greenhouse gases (GHG) and is frequently expressed as time span variation generally in 20, 50, and 100 years (GWP20, GWP50, GWP100, respectively). Of these, GWP100 was used in the study. The EP corresponds to the prediction for over-accumulation of nutrients. The AP corresponds to the prediction of the over-accumulation of acidifying substance in the environment. The HTP is related to its effect on human health of toxic substances present in the environment [65]. The LCA calculation for environmental impact in each category is based on equation, as follows [65]:

$$Environmental Impact = \sum (E \times f_{substance})$$
(4-1)

Specifically, E denotes emission in kg/kg of the functional unit; and $f_{substance}$ denotes the emission characterization factor

The emission characterization factor for climate change (GWP100) environmental impact category followed the characterization model as developed by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) [65]. The factor was expressed in kg CO₂ eq/kg of emission. The EP characterization factor was based on the stoichiometric procedure of CML impact assessment method and was expressed as kg PO₄³⁻ eq/kg of emission [63]. The AP characterization factor for emissions to air was calculated based on the Regional Air Pollution Information and Simulation (RAINS) 10 model in the kg SO₂ eq/kg of emission expression [81]. The HTP characterization factor was calculated based on the Uniform System for the Evaluation of Substance adapted for LCA purposes (USES-LCA) and expressed as 1,4-dichlorobenzene eq/kg of emission [82].

The LCC uses the same life cycle inventory data framework for the direct (foreground) process. The value depends on the total cost of material and energy through its life cycle. The calculation of LCC corresponds to equation as follows [83]:

$$LCC = \sum (Q \times P) \tag{4-2}$$

Specifically, Q denotes the quantity of energy or material through the product life cycle (MJ energy or kg material); and P denotes the price of energy or material per unit value (JPY/MJ or JPY/kg)

In the case of wood raw material replacement in the same dissolving pulp mill, additional indirect costs including new equipment investment and labor were not calculated. However, an additional case scenario including indirect costs was also performed in the study as techno-economic analysis (TEA) for dissolving
pulp mill investment. The annual earnings parameter was used as a technoeconomic performance indicator in the study. The annual earnings were calculated using equation as follows [84]:

Annual earning = Annual revenues - [Operating costs + (a × Investment costs)]

where

$$a = \frac{i}{1 - (1 + i)^{-n}} \tag{4-3}$$

where i is the interest rate; n is equipment lifetime

Equipment investment cost was calculated based on the six-tenth rule in equation as follows [85]:

New Cost = Original Cost
$$\left(\frac{\text{New Size}}{\text{Original Size}}\right)^{0.6}$$
 (4-4)

The total cumulative energy input to the utilize EFB for dissolving pulp and furfural co-production was assessed via the cumulative energy demand (CED) method. The CED represents the direct and indirect energy use throughout its life cycle including the energy consumed during the extraction, manufacturing, and disposal of the raw and auxiliary materials [86]. Generally, the life cycle of a product is subdivided into three phases corresponding to 'production' (P), 'use' (U) and 'disposal' (D). Thus, the total CED input corresponds to equation as follows [87]:

$$CED = CED_P + CED_U + CED_D \tag{4-5}$$

SimaPro v8.0.5 from Pré-sustainability was used for LCA and CED analysis in the study. The production of 1 kg dissolving pulp was selected as the functional unit in the study.

4.2.3 Data collection

Data on input-output direct material and energy inventory, prices, operational conditions, and investment were collected from the literature review and lab-scale experiments for dissolving pulp and furfural production in the previous publications [29] and in the Chapter 2. The technical process conditions on EFB-based dissolving pulp process production via prehydrolysis/ soda-anthraquinone (AQ) cooking followed by elemental chlorine-free (ECF) bleaching are shown in Fig. 4-3. Based on the lab-scale experiment in the previous research, the EFB was first pre-treated via a prehydrolysis process using water with 7 mL/g liquor-to-solid ratio at 150 °C for 3 h. After prehydrolysis, the wet solid residue of EFB was subjected to soda-AQ cooking for 3 h at 160 °C with 20% active alkali dosage and 0.1% AQ dosage. The process was followed by the ECF bleaching process that consisted of D_0 -E_p- D_1 (D_0 : chlorine dioxide bleaching; E_p : extraction with peroxide; D_1 : smaller dosage of chlorine dioxide bleaching than D_0). The bleaching conditions are listed in **Table 4-2**.



Fig. 4-3 Technical process diagram block of dissolving pulp and furfural co-

production

Table 4-2 Bleaching conditions for proposed process

Bleaching	Process conditions
sequence	
D ₀	ClO ₂ dosage 2.9%; 1 h; 70 °C; PC* 10%
Ep	NaOH dosage 1%; H ₂ O ₂ dosage 1.4%; 1 h; 70 °C; PC* 10%
-	
D_1	ClO ₂ dosage 0.5%; 1 h; 70 °C; PC* 10%
~ 1	
D_1	ClO ₂ dosage 0.5%; 1 h; 70 °C; PC* 10%

*PC: Pulp Consistency; D_0 : chlorine dioxide bleaching; E_p : extraction with peroxide; D_1 : smaller dosage of chlorine dioxide bleaching than D_0

In the prehydrolysis process, prehydrolysis liquor (PHL) was generated as high hemicellulose content liquor. It was subjected to dehydration process for 1 h at 98 °C with acid catalyst addition to produce furfural¹¹⁾. This furfural was considered to be a co-product in the study. Other supporting data such as EFB plantation, dissolving pulp manufacturing location and material transportation in LCA, LCC and CED calculations were selected based on the condition of oil palm plantation and wood-based dissolving pulp industry in Riau Province. An industrial field study of this conventional dissolving pulp industry was conducted to input additional technical information related to industrial-scale process conditions. It was necessary to construct a reliable techno-economic analysis.

4.3 **Results and discussion**

Based on the system boundary described in Fig. 3-4 (Chapter 3), the EFB is allocated as waste in the CPO product system. It is used as a raw material to substitute wood chips in dissolving pulp production. In lab-scale production, an EFB-based dissolving pulp was fabricated, and the same level of conventional dissolving pulp quality was obtained. Thus, the raw material shifted from wood chips to EFB in the LCA, LCC, and CED calculations was reliable.

The life cycle input-output inventory analysis was performed for the direct (foreground) process in the study. The inventory data contained all materials and energy systems in the dissolving pulp and furfural co-production. It was used for LCA, CED, and LCC calculations and externalities, such as investment cost and labor cost, were excluded. Table 4-3 shows input-output material and energy to produce 1 kg of dissolving pulp. In the life cycle inventory analysis, 5.29 kg of EFB (50% moisture content) was required to produce 1 kg of dissolving pulp (air-dried basis) based on lab-scale production yield (34% oven dried pulp yield based on oven dried raw material). In the conventional process in the industry, 4.5 kg of wood was required to produce 1 kg of dissolving pulp (40% yield). It was

concluded that 4.5 kg of wood extraction can be substituted by 5.29 kg of EFB waste valorization to produce 1 kg of dissolving pulp. Thus, it was considered as a negative value consequence in the process input of life cycle inventory analysis.

	Unit	Value	Price per Unit (JPY)	LCC (JPY)
Input				
Material				
EFB, 50% moisture	kg	5.294	0.00	0.00
Wood chips, 50% moisture	kg	-4.500	6.50	-29.25
H_2O_2	kg	0.013	41.00	0.53
NaOH for cooking	kg	0.683	37.00	25.27
NaOH for bleaching	kg	0.009	37.00	0.33
Chlorine dioxide	kg	0.031	60.00	1.86
Water	m3	0.073	120.00	8.76
Sulfuric acid	kg	1.112	21.30	23.69
Anthraquinone	kg	0.003	550.00	1.65
Energy				
Electricity	kWh	0.443	8.30	3.68
Steam	kWh	2.222	2.22	4.89
Transportation				
Truck	t km	0.265	24.00*	6.36
Total LCC from input				47.77
Output				
Dissolving pulp (air dried)	kg	1.000	100.00	100.00
Furfural (co-product)	kg	0.011	1785.00	18.88
CO ₂	kg	0.079	0.00**	0.00
Total revenue from output				118.88

Table 4-3 Life cycle inventory and life cycle cost analysis to produce 1 kg of

dissolving pulp

* Truck cost for 5 t of capacity and 50 km distance (short distance) is 6000 JPY in Indonesia; ** Carbon tax have not applied yet in Indonesia

The environmental impact was calculated based on input-output mass and energy in the life cycle inventory analysis. The dissolving pulp and furfural were determined as the main product and co-product, respectively. The environmental impact and CED calculation followed the system boundary of consequential LCA, as shown in Fig. 3-4 (Chapter 3).

The total values of GWP100, AP, EP, and HTP were negative in the production of 1 kg dissolving pulp from EFB via prehydrolysis/ soda-AQ cooking followed by ECF bleaching. SimaPro v8.0.5 software was used, and -1.218 kg CO₂ eq of GWP100, -0.006 kg SO₂ eq of AP, -0.002 kg PO₄³⁻ eq of EP and -0.054 kg 1,4-DB eq of HTP were generated to produce 1 kg of dissolving pulp from EFB. The values imply that the proposed production system provided an advantage to the environmental system in terms of greenhouse gases, nutrients, acidifying substances, and toxic substances emission reduction. This proved that the EFB-based dissolving pulp production was environmentally feasible.

The CED analysis was conducted in the study of non-renewable energy source usage. Specifically, 1.887 MJ of CED was generated in the production of 1 kg dissolving pulp from EFB with the same framework as LCA analysis. This implies that the proposed production system potentially decreased primary energy usage through its life cycle. The conventional dissolving pulp production from wood required 33.205 MJ of CED. This proved that the proposed process was feasible from an energy-conservation point of view.

For comparison purposes, other researchers reported that conventional acid sulfite-based totally chlorine-free (TCF) bleaching dissolving pulp production from wood chips resulted in higher environmental impacts when compared to the proposed process [41]. Their study indicated that the total environmental impact to produce 1 kg of dissolving pulp in their process corresponded to 0.415 kg CO₂ eq of GWP100, 0.002 kg PO_4^{3-} eq of EP, 0.005 kg SO₂ eq of AP and 0.072 kg 1,4-DB eq of HTP [41]. However, there is a paucity of studies that report on LCA results in the prehydrolysis kraft-based ECF bleaching dissolving pulp production which is similar to that in the conventional dissolving pulp mill in Indonesia.

Another advantage of applying lignocellulosic materials, such as EFB, is that it is easier to delignify when compared to wood [88] and, softer cooking processes, such as soda cooking, can be applied to EFB. In contrast to the kraftbased or acid sulfite-based method that is generally used in the conventional dissolving pulp production, soda cooking corresponds to a sulfur-free cooking process. Thus, it decreases acidifying substance emissions.

The LCC was calculated by following the LCA framework. The total LCC from material and energy input in the study corresponded to 47.77 JPY to produce 1 kg of dissolving pulp. The total revenue corresponded to 118.88 JPY and is due to the selling price of 1 kg dissolving pulp and 0.011 kg furfural. This implies that EFB-based dissolving pulp and furfural co-production earned 71.11 JPY per 1 kg of dissolving pulp production in the LCC calculation. The unit price per kilogram of dissolving pulp corresponded to 100 JPY while the unit price per kilogram of furfural corresponded to 1785 JPY. Given the economic value comparison, the production of furfural as prehydrolysis waste valorization is necessary. Chemicals, such as NaOH for the cooking process and sulfuric acid for furfural production are the main contributors to LCC. The optimization of process

chemical usage while maintaining product quality in the proposed product system is necessary.

Another advantage of applying this proposed product system in Indonesia is that the largest oil palm plantation and the existing dissolving pulp industry are in the same location, in Riau Province, Sumatra, Indonesia. Therefore, the proposed technology can be scaled-up to an industrial scale without further investment. Additionally, the life cycle inventory analysis in Table 4-3 shows that the transportation for material transfer contributed to 12.65% in the LCC. This implies that a longer distance for material transfer transportation significantly affect the LCC.

The assumption in the LCC analysis was that EFB-based dissolving pulp production does not change the existing dissolving pulp mill equipment in Riau Province. Moreover, the LCC analysis in the study only focused on the direct (foreground) process, excluding the indirect cost.

Thus, additional techno-economic analysis was conducted by considering the investment to construct the new dissolving pulp and furfural plant. In the study, a new investment in integrated dissolving pulp and furfural plant with 250,000 ADt/y dissolving pulp production capacity was simulated. The economic parameters for techno-economic assessment in the study are listed in Table 4-4.

Parameter	Unit	Value
Equipment lifetime	У	15
Interest rate, <i>i</i>	%	7
Annuity factor		0.11
Scale factor		0.6
Dissolving pulp production capacity	ADt/y	250,000
Furfural production capacity	t/y	2,645
Working day per year	d	330
Construction	У	1
Trial production period	У	2
Price of dissolving pulp	JPY/ADt	100,000
Price of furfural	JPY/ADt	1,785,000
Investment costs		
Digester for dissolving pulp production ^[85]	JPY	2,764,667,090
Furfural plant ^[89]	JPY	209,341,039
Recovery boiler ^[86]	JPY	8,250,000,000
Causticization plant and lime kiln ^[85]	JPY	2,887,541,183
Heat exchanger system ^[84]	JPY	303,600,000
Piping system	JPY	122,100,000
Operating costs		
Total chemicals	JPY/y	7,589,950,000
Electricity	JPY/y	919,225,000
Steam production	JPY/y	1,233,210,000

Table 4-4 Economic parameters used in the techno-economic analysis in the

Total water	JPY/y	2,550,000,000
Transportation	JPY/y	1,590,000,000
Labor cost	JPY/y	48,000,000
Maintenance cost for digester plant	JPY/y	27,646,671
Maintenance cost for furfural plant	JPY/y	2,093,410
Maintenance cost for recovery boiler	JPY/y	82,500,000
Maintenance cost for heat exchanger	JPY/y	3,036,000
Maintenance cost for piping	JPY/y	1,221,000
Maintenance cost for causticization plant and lime kiln	JPY/y	28,875,412

The economic performance parameter in the study was the annual earnings. The lifetime of all invested equipment was assumed as 15 years in the study with a 7% bank interest rate. The interest rate was based on the average bank interest rate in Indonesia. The number of working days per year was assumed as 330 days. The same mass and energy balance as that in life cycle inventory analysis in Table 4-3 is applied for most operational cost calculations. At the industrial scale, the chemicals need to be recovered. In the study, the chemical recovery efficiency was assumed as 80-90%.

The annual earnings within 20 years in the same functional unit as LCA, CED and LCC calculation is shown in Fig. 4-6. The first year was considered as the construction period and the next 2 years were considered as the trial period. The maximum production capacity was not obtained during the trial period. In the study, the production capacity was assumed as 50% and as 75% in the second and third years, respectively.



Fig. 4-4 Costs analysis for 1 kg of dissolving pulp production in the study

Based on annual earnings simulation for new plant of integrated dissolving pulp and furfural production in Fig. 4-4, positive annual earnings are obtained from third-year production. The annual earnings in third-year period were 7.43 billion JPY. This implies an earnings of 29.71 JPY per 1 kg of dissolving pulp production based on the techno-economic assessment that described the realistic simulation of EFB-based dissolving pulp production. Annual earnings increased due to the depreciation in investment costs.

In the techno-economic assessment, the profit per kg of dissolving pulp production corresponded to 54.44 JPY as obtained after 15 years. The amount was slightly lower than the profit in the LCC methodology. This was due to the exclusion of indirect costs in the LCC study. The integration of techno-economic assessment and LCC can constitute a useful tool to obtain a more comprehensive economic assessment interpretation in the study.

Based on the overall assessment consideration, the valorization of EFB as the feedstock for dissolving pulp production was attractive and feasible. It offers advantages in terms of environmental, energy usage, and economic considerations.

4.4 Conclusions

The application of *waste-to-product* concept for EFB via biorefinery processes, such as dissolving pulp and furfural co-production, offers advantages in terms of economic, environmental, and energy consideration. In the production of 1 kg dissolving pulp with the co-production of 0.01 kg furfural, -1.218 kg CO₂ eq of GWP100, -0.006 kg SO₂ eq of AP, -0.002 kg PO₄³⁻ eq of EP and -0.054 kg 1,4-DB eq of HTP were generated in the product system. These values imply that the proposed production system exhibits an advantage to the environmental system. In the same functional unit, the CED analysis exhibited a cumulative energy demand corresponding to 1.887 MJ. Two economic assessments were conducted in the study. They indicated that the production of 1 kg dissolving pulp in the proposed product system yields 71.11 JPY as earnings based on LCC methodology and 54.44 JPY as earning obtained after 15 years in the techno-economic assessment simulation.

The valorization of EFB and decrease in the wood chips demand in the dissolving pulp production correspond to key advantages of EFB utilization as feedstock for dissolving pulp and furfural co-production. However, the proposed

process is still in the initiation phase and a feasibility study with more complexities is required for future research.

Chapter 5 General Conclusions

The utilization of EFB as a raw material for integrated dissolving pulp and furfural production has been studied. In the laboratory experiment, nitric acid prehydrolysis soda cooking demonstrated that a furfural yield from the PHL was 6.2% of EFB material weight. The dissolving pulp demonstrated a brightness of 90.4% ISO and a viscosity of 6.5 cP, which were acceptable according to the Indonesian National Standard after ECF bleaching with P_{sa}-D₀-E_p-D₁ sequence using peroxymonosulfuric acid, chlorine dioxide, and hydrogen peroxide.

Based on the finding in Chapter 2, the Chapter 3 conducted to propose EFB as the substitute of wood to produce dissolving pulp and furfural based on environmental analysis. The scenarios were proposed and compared with existing practice. The cLCA was conducted to evaluate Scenario 1 (50% of wood consumption replaced by EFB), Scenario 2 (100% wood consumption replaced EFB) and Scenario 3 (100% of wood consumption replaced by EFB with environmental improvement in prehydrolysis process). Scenario 3 was observed as the most promising scenario of this research. Moreover, the process in Scenario 3 maintains a dissolving pulp quality similar to that obtained using wood as raw material. Increasing the added value of EFB and decreasing the wood demand are key points of this development in addition to the environmental considerations. Furthermore, the environmental impact considering GWP, AP, EP and HTP were less compared to Scenario 1, 2 and existing practice. Therefore, in the commercial scale, EFB could be utilized for producing dissolving pulp and furfural production considering Scenario 3.

In the Chapter 4, the focus is to evaluate the environmental impact, CED, and LCC of dissolving pulp production by using prehydrolysis/soda-AQ cooking followed by ECF bleaching (scenario 3 in the Chapter 3). The application of waste-to-product concept for EFB through biorefinery processes, such as dissolving pulp and furfural co-production, offers advantages in terms of economic, environmental, and energy consideration. In the production of 1 kg dissolving pulp with the co-production of 0.01 kg furfural, -1.218 kg CO₂ eq of GWP100, -0.006 kg SO₂ eq of AP, -0.002 kg PO₄³⁻ eq of EP and -0.054 kg 1,4-DB eq of HTP were generated in the product system. These values imply that the proposed production system exhibits an advantage to the environmental system. In the same functional unit, the CED analysis exhibited a cumulative energy demand corresponding to 1.887 MJ. Two economic assessments were conducted in the study. They indicated that the production of 1 kg dissolving pulp in the proposed product system yield 71.11 JPY as earnings based on LCC methodology and 54.44 JPY as earning obtained after 15 years in the techno-economic assessment simulation.

The valorization of EFB and decrease in the wood chips demand in the dissolving pulp production correspond to key advantages of EFB utilization as feedstock for dissolving pulp and furfural co-production. However, the proposed process is still in the initiation phase and a feasibility study with more complexities is required for future research.

References

- Z. Chen, H. Zhang, Z. He, and L. Zhang, "Current and future markets of dissolving pulp in China and other countries," *BioResources*, vol. 14, no. 4, pp. 7627-7629, 2019.
- M. S. Jahan, "Studies on the effect of prehydrolysis and amine in cooking liquor on producing dissolving pulp from jute (*Corchorus capsularis*)," *Wood Sci. and Technol.*, vol. 43, no. 3-4, pp. 213-224, 2009.
- [3] H. Sixta, M. Iakovlev, L. Testova, A. Roselli, M. Hummel, M. Borrega, A. van Heiningen, C. Froschauer, H. Schottenberger, "Novel concepts of dissolving pulp production," *Cellulose*, vol. 20, pp. 1547-1561, 2013.
- [4] P. Singh, O. Sulaiman, R. Hashim, C. P. Leh, R. P. Singh, "Using biomass residues from oil palm industry as a raw material for pulp and paper industry: Potential benefits and threat to the environment," *Environ. Dev. Sustain.*, vol. 15, pp. 367-383, 2013.
- [5] Indonesian Palm Oil Statistics 2014. Jakarta, Indonesia: Statistics Indonesia, 2014.
- [6] N. S. H. M. Yunos, A. S. Baharuddin, K. F. M. Yunos, H. S. Hafid, Z. Busu,
 M. N. Mokhtar, A. Sulaiman, A. M. Som, "The physicochemical characteristics of residual oil and fibers from oil palm empty fruit bunches," *BioResources*, vol. 10, pp. 14-29, 2015.
- [7] Harsono, L. T. Mulyantara, A. T. Rizaluddin, A. Nakagawa-izumi, H. Ohi,
 K. Nakamata, "Properties of fibers prepared from oil palm empty fruit bunch for use as corrugating medium and fiberboard," *Jpn. TAPPI J.*, vol. 69, pp. 1349-1359, 2015.

- [8] L. P. Christov, M. Akhtar, B. A. Prior, "The potential of bisulfite pulping in dissolving pulp production," *Enzyme Microb. Technol.*, vol. 23, pp. 70-74, 1998.
- [9] M. F. Andrade, J. L. Colodette, "Dissolving pulp production from sugar cane bagasse," *Ind. Crops Prod.*, vol. 52, pp. 58-64, 2014.
- [10] L. A. R. Batalha, J. L. Colodette, J. L. Gomide, L. C. A. Barbosa, C. R. A. Maltha, F. J. B. Gomes, "Dissolving pulp production from bamboo," *BioResources*, vol. 7, pp. 640-651, 2012.
- [11] A. Saeed, M. S. Jahan, H. Li, Z. Liu, Y. Ni, A. van Heiningen, "Mass balances of components dissolved in the pre-hydrolysis liquor of kraft-based dissolving pulp production process from Canadian hardwoods," *Biomass Bioenergy*, vol. 39, pp. 14-19, 2012.
- [12] A. Alvaro, A. Rivera, A. Pérez, R, Yáñez, J. C. Garcia, F. López, "Integral valorization of two legumes by autohydrolysis and organosolv delignification," *Bioresour. Technol.*, vol. 100, pp. 440-445, 2009.
- [13] C. Liu, C. E. Wyman, "Partial flow of compressed-hot water through corn stover to enhance hemicellulose sugar recovery and enzymatic digestibility of cellulose. *Bioresour. Technol.*, vol. 96, pp. 1978-1985, 2005.
- [14] G. Garrote, H. Domínguez, J. C. Parajó, "Kinetic modelling of corncob autohydrolysis," *Process Biochem.*, vol.36, pp. 571-578, 2001.
- [15] N. S. Mosier, R. Hendrickson, M. Brewer, N. Ho, M. Sedlak, R. Dreshel, G. Welch, B. S. Dien, A. Aden, M. R. Ladisch, "Industrial scale-up of pH-controlled liquid hot water pre-treatment of corn fiber for fuel ethanol production," *Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol.*, vol. 125, pp. 77-97, 2005.

- [16] C. M. Cai, T. Zhang, R. Kumar, C. E. Wyman, "Integrated furfural production as a renewable fuel and chemical platform from lignocellulosic biomass," *J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol.*, vol. 89, pp. 2-10, 2014.
- [17] H. D. Mansilla, J. Baeza, S. Urzúa, G. Maturana, J. Villaseñor, N. Durán,
 "Acid-catalysed hydrolysis of rice hull: Evaluation of furfural production," *Bioresour. Technol.*, vol. 66, pp. 189-193, 1998.
- [18] K. Yan, A. Chen, "Efficient hydrogenation of biomass-derived furfural and levulinic acid on the facilely synthesized noble-metal-free Cu-Cr catalyst," *Energy*, vol. 58, pp. 357-363, 2013.
- [19] K. Yan, G. Wu, T. Lafleur, C. Jarvis, "Production, properties and catalytic hydrogenation of furfural to fuel additives and value-added chemicals," *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, vol. 38, pp. 663-676, 2014.
- [20] B. P. Lavarack, G. J. Griffin, D. Rodman, "The acid hydrolysis of sugarcane bagasse hemicellulose to produce xylose, arabinose, glucose and other products," *Biomass Bioenergy*, vol. 23, pp. 367-380, 2002.
- [21] D. Zhang, Y. L. Ong, Z. Li, J. C. Wu, "Optimization of two-step acidcatalyzed hydrolysis of oil palm empty fruit bunch for high sugar concentration in hydrolysate," *Int. J. Chem. Eng.*, ID 954632, 2014.
- [22] A. Rodriguez-Chong, J. A. Ramirez, G. Garrote, M. Vázquez, "Hydrolysis of sugar cane bagasse using nitric acid: A kinetic assessment," *J. Food Eng.*, vol. 61, pp. 143-152, 2004.
- [23] H. Ohi, M. Kishino, "Cleavage of Cα-Cβ bonds of lignin model compounds by nitrite and nitric acid," *Holzforschung*, vol. 51, pp. 343-348, 1997.

- [24] D. B. Gomis, M. D. G. Alvarez, L. S. Naredo, J. J. M. Alonso, "Highperformance liquid chromatographic determination of furfural and hydroxymethylfurfural in apple juices and concentrates," Chromatographia, vol. 32, pp. 45-48, 1991.
- [25] A. T. Rizaluddin, Q. Liu, P. R. Panggabean, H. Ohi, K. Nakamata, "Application of peroxymonosulfuric acid as a modification of the totally chlorine-free bleaching of acacia wood prehydrolysis-kraft pulp," *J. Wood Sci.*, vol. 61, pp. 292-298, 2015.
- [26] W. D. Wan Rosli, C. P. Leh, Z. Zainuddin, R. Tanaka, "Optimisation of soda pulping variables for preparation of dissolving pulps from oil palm fibre," *Holzforschung*, vol. 57, pp. 106-113, 2003.
- [27] K. Watanabe, Y. Nanri, Y. Okamoto, M. Shimizu, H. Ohi, "Development of a new cooking system using highly concentrated polysulfide (III). Effect of anthraquinone addition on PS cooking of hardwoods," *Jpn. TAPPI J.*, vol. 66, pp. 530-535, 2012.
- [28] Y. Nomura, M. Nakamura, "Studies on quinone additive cooking. Part 1 Effect of quinone additive cooking," *Jpn. TAPPI J.*, vol. 32, pp. 713-721, 1978.
- [29] Harsono, A. S. Putra, R. Maryana, A. T. Rizaluddin, Y. Y. H'ng, A. Nakagawa-izumi, H. Ohi, "Preparation of dissolving pulp from oil palm empty fruit bunch by prehydrolysis soda-anthraquinone cooking method," *J. Wood Sci.*, vol. 62, pp. 65-73, 2016.
- [30] A. T. Rizaluddin, A. Salaghi, H. Ohi, K. Nakamata, "Peroxymonosulfuric acid treatment as an alternative to ozone for totally chlorine-free and

elementary chlorine-free bleaching of hardwoods prehydrolysis-kraft pulp," *Jpn. TAPPI J.*, vol. 70, pp. 724-733, 2016.

- [31] I. Tomoda, "Characteristics of peroxymonosulfuric acid bleaching and the mill application," *Jpn. TAPPI J.*, vol. 68, pp. 68, pp. 1317-1323, 2014.
- [32] E. Kuwabara, T. Koshitsuka, M. Kajiyama, H. Ohi, "Impact on the filtrate from bleached pulp treated with peroxymonosulfuric acid for effective removal of hexenuronic acid," Jpn. TAPPI J., vol. 65, pp. 1017-1075, 2011.
- [33] National Standard Agency of Indonesia (BSN), SNI (Standard Nasional Indonesia) 0938:2010, Jakarta, Indonesia. Available: http://www.sisni.bsn.go.id/index.php?/sni_main/sni/detail_sni/9701
- [34] M. A. Nasution, D. S. Wibawa, T. Ahamed, R. Noguchi, "Comparative environmental impact evaluation of palm oil mill effluent treatment using a life cycle assessment approach: A case study based on composting and a combination for biogas technologies in North Sumatera of Indonesia," J. *Cleaner Prod.*, vol. 184, pp. 1028-1040, 2018.
- [35] S. Siddiquee, S. N. Shafawati, L. Naher, "Effective composting of empty fruit bunches using potential *Trichoderma* strains," *Biotechnol. Rep.*, vol. 13, pp. 1-7, 2017.
- [36] T. Yoshizaki, Y. Shirai, M. A. Hassan, A. S. Baharuddin, N. M. R. Abdullah, A. Sulaiman, Z. Busu, "Improved economic viability of integrated biogas energy and compost production for sustainable palm oil mill management," *J. Cleaner Prod.*, vol. 44, pp. 1-7, 2013.
- [37] Y. L. Chiew, S. Shimada, "Current state and environmental impact assessment for utilizing oil palm empty fruit bunches for fuel, fiber and

fertilizer-A case study of Malaysia," *Biomass Bioenergy*, vol. 51, pp. 109-124, 2013.

- [38] A. Salaghi, A. S. Putra, R. Maryana, M. Kajiyama, H. Ohi, "Preparation of dissolving pulp by totally chlorine-free bleaching: Roles of hardwood syringyl and guaiacyl lignins," *Jpn. TAPPI J.*, vol. 72. no. 10, pp. 1167-1184, 2018.
- [39] A. K. Sharma, K. Anupam, V. Swaroop, P. Shivhare, V. Bist, "Pilot scale soda-anthraquinone pulping of palm oil empty fruit bunches and elemental chlorine free bleaching of resulting pulp," *J. Cleaner Prod.*, vol. 106, pp. 422-429, 2015.
- [40] W. Sridach, "The environmentally benign pulping process of non-wood fibers," J Sci. Technol., vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 105-123, 2010.
- [41] S. Gonzáles-García, A. Hospido, R. Agnemo, P. Svensson, E. Selling, M. T. Moriera, G. Feijoo, "Environmental life cycle assessment of a Swedish dissolving pulp mill integrated biorefinery," J. Ind. Ecol., vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 568-583, 2011.
- [42] J. Helmerius, J. V. Von Walter, U. Rova, K. A. Berglund, D. B. Hodge,
 "Impact of hemicellulose pre-extraction for bioconversion on birch Kraft pulp properties," *Bioresour. Technol.*, vol. 101, no. 15, pp. 5996-6005, 2010.
- [43] B. Arnoul-Jarriault, D. Lachenal, C. Chirat, L. Heux, "Upgrading softwood bleached kraft pulp to dissolving pulp by cold caustic treatment and acid-hot caustic treatment," *Ind. Crops Prod.*, vol. 65, pp. 565-571, 2015.

- [44] M. Kissinger, J. Fix, W. E. Rees, "Wood and non-wood pulp production: Comparative ecological footprinting on the Canadian preiries," *Ecol. Econ.*, vol. 62, pp. 552-558, 2007.
- [45] R. Young, Global trends in dissolving pulp, in SPECTRUM MAGAZINE, vol. 36, pp. 52-53, 2017. Available in https://www.andritz.com/spectrumen/latest-issues/issue-36/global-market-trends
- [46] M. Niman, "Menperin tinjau pembangunan pabrik serat PT APR senilai Rp. 10,9 T," BeritaSatu, January 21, 2018. [Online]. Available: http://www.beritasatu.com/bisnis/474442-menperin-tinjau-pembangunanpabrik-serat-pt-apr-senilai-rp-109-t.html
- [47] Hariyanto, "Toba Pulp Lestari alihkan produksi pulp kertas ke produksi pulp-dissolving grade," Industry, March 6, 2017. [Online]. Available: http://www.industry.co.id/read/5213/toba-pulp-lestari-alihkan-produksipulp-kertas-ke-produksi-pulp-dissolving-grade
- [48] A. K. Das, A. Nakagawa-izumi, H. Ohi, "Quality evaluation of dissolving pulp fabricated from banana plant stem and its potential biorefinery," *Carbohydr. Polym.*, vol. 147, pp. 133-138, 2016.
- [49] G. Machado, S. Leon, F. Santos, R. Lourega, J. Dullius, M. E. Mollman, P. Eicher, "Literature review on furfural production from lignocellulosic biomass," *Natural Resources*, vol. 7, pp. 115-129, 2016.
- [50] H. Liu, H. Hu, M. S. Jahan, Y. Ni, "Furfural formation from the prehydrolysis liquor of a hardwood kraft-based dissolving pulp production process," *Bioresour. Technol.*, vol. 131, pp. 315-320, 2013.

- [51] M. M. Baktash, L. Ahsan, Y. Ni, "Production of furfural from an industrial pre-hydrolysis liquor," *Sep. and Purif. Technol.*, vol. 149, pp. 407-412, 2015.
- [52] E. I. Wiloso, C. Bessou, R. Heijungs, "Methodological issues in comparative life cycle assessment: treatment options for empty fruit bunches in a palm oil system," *Int. J. Life Cycle Assess.*, vol. 20, no. 2, pp. 204-216, 2015.
- [53] E. I. Wiloso, N. Nazir, J. Hanafi, K. Siregar, S. S. Harsono, A. A. R. Setiawan, Muryanto, M. Romli, N. A. Utama, B. Shantiko, J. Jupesta, T. H. A. Utomo, A. A. Sari, S. Y. Saputra, K. Fang, "Life cycle assessment research and application in Indonesia," Int. J. Life Cycle Assess., vol. 24, no. 3, pp. 386-396, 2019.
- [54] S. Gonzáles-García, M. T. Moriera, G. Artal, L. Maldonado, G. Feijoo, "Environmental impact assessment of non-wood based pulp production by soda-anthraquinone pulping process," *J. Cleaner Prod.*, vol. 18, pp. 137-145, 2010.
- [55] A. C. Dias, L. Arroja, I. Capela, "Life cycle assessment of printing and writing paper produced in Portugal," *Int. J. Life Cycle Assess.*, vol. 12, no. 7, pp. 521-528, 2007.
- [56] B. G. Hermann, C. Kroeze, W. Jawjit, "Assessing environmental performance by combining life cycle assessment, multi-criteria analysis and environmental performance indicators," *J. Cleaner Prod.*, vol. 15, no. 18, pp. 1787-1796, 2007.

- [57] E. Lopes, A. C. Dias, L. Arroja, I. Capela, F. Pereira, "Application of life cycle assessment to the Portuguese pulp and paper industry," *J. Cleaner Prod.*, vol. 11, pp. 51-59, 2003.
- [58] J. Reinhard, R. Zah, "Consequential life cycle assessment of the environmental impacts of an increased rapemethylester (RME) production in Switzerland," *Biomass Bioenergy*, vol. 35, pp. 2361-2373, 2011.
- [59] M. Brander, R. Tipper, C. Hutchison, G. Davis, "Consequential and attributional approach to LCA: A guide to policy makers with specific reference to greenhouse gas LCA of biofuels," Ecometrica Press.
- [60] J. M. Earles, A. Halog, "Consequential life cycle assessment: a review," *Int. J. Life Cycle Assess.*, vol. 16, pp. 445-453, 2011.
- [61] Ditjenbun, Tree crop estate statistics of Indonesia: 2015-2017 palm oil, Jakarta: Indonesia, Indonesian Ministry of Agriculture, 2016.
- [62] D. W. Francis, M. T. Towers, T. C. Browne, *Energy cost reduction in the pulp and paper industry-An energy benchmarking perspective*, Canadian Industry Program for Energy Conservation, 2002.
- [63] PRé-sustainability, SimaPro database manual-methods, PRé-sustainability,
 2018 [Online]. Available: https://www.pre-sustainability.com/manuals/DatabaseManualMethods.pdf
- [64] OpenLCA, Impact assessment methods in Life Cycle Assessment and their impact categories. LCIA methods, 2016. [Online]. Available: https://www.openlca.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/LCIA-METHODSv.1.5.5.pdf.

- [65] J. B. Guinée, Handbook on life cycle assessment: Operational guide to the ISO standards, Kluwer Academic Publisher, 2001.
- [66] L. Christov, B. Prior, "Xylan removal from dissolving pulp using enzymes of *Aureobasidium pullulans*," *Biotechnol. Lett.*, vol. 15, pp. 1269-1274, 1993.
- [67] D. Ibarra, V. Kopcke, P. T. Larsson, A. S. Jaaskelainen, M. Ek, "Combination of alkaline and enzymatic treatments as a process for upgrading sisal paper-grade pulp to dissolving-grade pulp," *Bioresour. Technol.*, vol. 101, pp.7416-7423, 2010.
- [68] W. D. Wan Rosli, C. P. Leh, Z. Zainuddin, R. Tanaka, "Effect of prehydrolisis on the production of dissolving pulp from empty fruit bunches," *J. Trop. For. Sci.*, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 343-349, 2004.
- [69] I. Comte, F. Colin, O. Grünberger, S. Follain, J. K. Whalen, J. P. Caliman, "Landscape-scale assessment of soil response to long-term organic and mineral fertilizer application in an industrial oil palm plantation, Indonesia," *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.*, vol. 169, pp. 58-68, 2013.
- [70] A. Nakagawa-Izumi, Y. Y. H'ng, L. T. Mulyantara, R. Maryana, V. T. Do,
 H. Ohi, "Characterization of syringyl and guaiacyl lignins in thermomechanical pulp from oil palm empty fruit bunch by pyrolysis-gas chromatography-mass spectrometry using ion intensity calibration," *Ind. Crops Prod.*, vol. 95, pp. 615-620, 2017.
- [71] P. Vaskan, E. R. Pachón, E. Gnansounou, "Techno-economic and life-cycle assessment of biorefineries based on palm empty fruit bunches in Brazil," J. *Cleaner Prod.*, vol. 172, pp. 3655-3668, 2018.

- [72] S. E. Hosseini, M. A. Wahid, "Development of biogas combustion in combined heat and power generation," *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, vol. 40, pp. 621-632, 2014.
- [73] J. K. Raman, E. Gnansounou, "Furfural production from empty fruit bunch-A biorefinery approach," *Ind. Crops Prod.*, vol. 69, pp. 371-377, 2015.
- [74] R. Suxia, X. Haiyan, Z. Jinling, L. Shunqing, H. Xiaofeng, L. Tingzhou, "Furfural production from rice husk using sulfuric acid and a solid acid catalyst through a two-stage process," *Carbohydr. Res.*, vol. 359, pp. 1-6, 2012.
- [75] C. Sánchez, L. Serrano, M. A. Andres, J. Labidi, "Furfural production from corn cobs autohydrolysis liquors by microwave technology," *Ind. Crops Prod.*, vol. 42, pp. 513-519, 2013.
- [76] M. Vázquez, M. Oliva, S. J. Téllez-Luis, J. A. Ramírez, "Hydrolysis of sorghum straw using phosphoric acid: Evaluation of furfural production," *Bioresour. Technol.*, vol. 98, pp. 3053-3060, 2007.
- [77] C. W. Reeb, T. Hays, R. A. Venditti, R. Gonzalez, S. Kelley, "Supply chain analysis, delivered cost, and life cycle assessment of oil palm empty fruit bunch biomass for green chemical production in Malaysia," *BioResources*, vol. 9, no. 3, pp. 5385-5416, 2014.
- [78] E. Onoja, S. Chandren, F. I. A. Razak, N. A. Mahat, R. A. Wahab, "Oil palm (Elaeis guineensis) biomass in Malaysia: The present and future prospects," *Waste and Biomass Valorization*, vol. 10, pp. 2099-2117, 2019.

- [79] C. Gaudreault, R. Samson, P. R. Stuart, "Energy decision making in a pulp and paper mill: selection of LCA system boundary," *Int. J. Life Cycle Assess.*, vol. 15, pp. 198-211, 2010.
- [80] R. Pineda-Henson, A. B. Culaba, G. A. Mendoza, "Evaluating environmental performance of pulp and paper manufacturing using the analytic hierarchy process and life-cycle assessment," *J. Ind. Ecol.*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 15-28, 2002.
- [81] J. A. Kelly, *An overview of the RAINS Model*, Environmental Protection Agency, 2006.
- [82] R. van Zelm, M. A. J. Huijbregts, D. van de Meent, "USES-LCA 2.0-A global nested multi-media fate, exposure, and effects model," *Int. J. Life Cycle Assess.*, vol. 14, pp. 282-284, 2009.
- [83] R. Heijungs, E. Settanni, J Guinée, "Toward a computational structure for life cycle sustainability analysis: unifying LCA and LCC," *Int. J. Life Cycle Assess.*, vol. 18, pp. 1722-1733, 2013.
- [84] C. Laaksometsä, E. Axelsson, T. Berntsson, "Energy savings combined with lignin extraction for production increase: case study at a eucalyptus mill in Portugal," *Clean Techn. Environ. Policy*, vol. 11, pp. 77-82, 2009.
- [85] V. Lundberg, J. Bood, L. Nilsson, E. Axelsson, T. Berntsson, E. Svensson, "Converting a kraft pulp mill into a multi-product biorefinery: technoeconomic analysis of a case mill," *Clean Techn. Environ. Policy*, vol. 16, pp. 1411-1422, 2014.
- [86] M. A. J. Huijbregts, L. J. A. Rombouts, S. Hellweg, R. Frischknecht, A. J. Hendriks, D. van de Meent, A. D. M. J. Ragas, L Reijnders, J. Struijs, "Is

cumulative fossil energy demand a useful indicator for the environmental performance of products?," *Environ. Sci. and Technol.*, vol. 40, no. 3, pp. 641-648, 2006.

- [87] M. Röhrlich, M. Mistry, P. N. Martens, S. Buntenbach, M. Ruhrberg, M. Dienhart, S. Briem, R. Quinkertz, Z. Alkan, K. Kugeler, "A method to calculate the cumulative energy demand (CED) of lignite extraction," *Int. J. Life Cycle Assess.*, vol. 5, no. 6, pp. 369-373, 2000.
- [88] W. Sridach, "The environmentally benign pulping process of non-wood fibers," J. Sci. Technol., vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 105-123, 2010.
- [89] J. F. L. Silva, M. A. Selicani, T. L. Junqueira, B. C. Klein, S. vaz Júnior, A. Bonomi, "Integrated furfural and first generation bioethanol production: process simulation and techno-economic analysis," *Brazilian J. Chem. Eng.*, vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 623-634, 2017.

Acknowledgement

Immeasurable appreciation and gratitude are expressed to my supervisor, Associate Professor Ryozo Noguchi, Faculty of Life and Environmental Sciences, University of Tsukuba, for his kind support during my PhD study. My gratitude is also dedicated to Professor Hiroshi Ohi, Associate Professor Tofael Ahamed and Associate Professor Akiko Nakagawa-Izumi for their insightful comments, advices, and constructive discussion for completing this study.

I would like to thank to my institution, Indonesian Institute of Sciences (LIPI) and Indonesian Ministry of Research and Technology/National Research and Innovation Agency (RISTEK-BRIN) for providing the scholarship by Research and Innovation in Science and Technology Project (RISET-Pro) scholarship program for financial support during my PhD study. I hope this study will give a good impact for LIPI and RISTEK-BRIN in the future.

I also would like to express my special appreciation and thanks to my beloved wife, Yulia Anita, my daughter, Daffina Sagita Alya, and my son, Daffa Sayandra Elmanio for accompanying me all the time. Furthermore, I would like to thank to all my lab-mates for their cooperation and always help each other during the study.